Notice of Western BCP Planning Committee BCP

Council

Date: Thursday, 18 July 2024 at 10.00 am

Venue: HMS Phoebe, BCP Civic Centre, Bournemouth BH2 6DY

Membership:

Chair:
Clir M Le Poidevin

Vice Chair:
Clir J Clements

Clir C Adams Clir P Cooper Clir S McCormack
Clir J Challinor Clir M Dower Clir K Salmon
Clir A Chapmanlaw CllIr B Hitchcock ClIr P Sidaway

All Members of the Western BCP Planning Committee are summoned to attend this meeting
to consider the items of business set out on the agenda below.

The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following
link:

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6113

if you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please
contact: Jill Holyoake 01202 127564 or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 118686 or
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk

'g o

s gk

(O

c O

‘e
GRAHAM FARRANT oS
CHIEF EXECUTIVE DEBAT 3 o

s: B
10 July 2024 <o

BCP Council Civic Centre, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY



Maintaining and promoting high standards of conduct
Councillors should act solely
Declaring interests at meetings in terms of the public

Familiarise yourself with the Councillor Code of Conduct which can be found in interest
Part 6 of the Council’'s Constitution. Integrity

Before the meeting, read the agenda and reports to see if the matters to be Councillors must avoid
discussed at the meeting concern your interests placing themselves under

any obligation to people or
organisations that might try
inappropriately to influence
them in their work. They
should not act or take
decisions in order to gain
financial or other material
benefits for themselves,
their family, or their friends.
They must declare and
resolve any interests and
relationships

Objectivity

Councillors must act and
take decisions impartially,
fairly and on merit, using the
best evidence and without
discrimination or bias

Accountability

Councillors are accountable
to the public for their
decisions and actions and
must submit themselves to
the scrutiny necessaryto
ensure this

Openness

Councillors should act and
take decisions in an open
and transparent manner.
Information should not be
withheld from the public
unless there are clear and
lawful reasons for so doing

Honesty & Integrity

Councillors should act with
honesty and integrity and
should not place themselves

Does the matter directly relate to one of my Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)
(set outin Table 1)?

Does the matter directly relate to the
| have a DPI and cannot take part without finances or wellbeing of one of my Other
a dispensation Registerable Interests (ORIs)
(set out in Table 2)?

| have an ORI and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the

Does it directly relate to the finances or
wellbeing of me, a relative or a close
associate?

| have a NRI and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the

Does it affect the finances or wellbeing of
me, a relative or a close associate or any
of my ORIs?

Am | or they affected to a greater extent that
most people? And would a reasonable person
think my judgementis clouded?

| have an interest and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but I have no interest to disclose
not discuss or vote and must leave the
room

What are the principles of bias and pre-determination and how do they affect my
participation in the meeting?

Bias and predetermination are common law concepts. If they affect you, your
participation in the meeting may call into question the decision arrived at on the
item.

Bias Test Predetermination Test in situations where their
In all the circumstances, would it honesty and integrity may
lead a fair minded and informed At the time of making the decision, be questioned
observertg ggnclude that there was did the decision maker have a closed Leadership
a real possibility or a real danger that mind?
the decision maker was biased? Councillors should exhibit
. 4 these principles in their own
) . : 2 behaviour. They should
If a councillor appears to be biased or to have predetermined their decision, actively promote and
they must NOT participate in the meeting. robustly support the
. . . L - principles and be willing to
For more information or advice please contact the Monitoring Officer challenge poor behaviour

(janie.berry@bcpcouncil.gov.uk) wherever it occurs




AGENDA

ltems to be considered while the meeting is open to the public

Apologies

To receive any apologies for absence from Members.

Substitute Members

To receive information on any changes in the membership of the
Committee.

Note — When a member of a Committee is unable to attend a meeting of a
Committee or Sub-Committee, the relevant Political Group Leader (or their
nominated representative) may, by notice to the Monitoring Officer (or their
nominated representative) prior to the meeting, appoint a substitute
member from within the same Political Group. The contact details on the
front of this agenda should be used for notifications.

Declarations of Interests

Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance.

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting.

Confirmation of Minutes

To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on
23 May 2024.

Public Issues

To receive any requests to speak on planning applications which the
Planning Committee is considering at this meeting.

The deadline for the submission of requests to speak is 10.00am on

Wednesday 17 July 2024 [10.00am of the working day before the meeting].

Requests should be submitted to Democratic Services using the contact
details on the front of this agenda.

Further information about how public speaking is managed at meetings is
contained in the Planning Committee Protocol for Public Speaking and
Statements, a copy of which is included with this agenda sheet and is also
published on the website on the following page:

https://[democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?1D=614

Summary of speaking arrangements as follows:

Speaking at Planning Committee (in person or virtually):

e There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes to speak in
objection and up to two persons may speak within the five minutes.

11-18


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=614

e There will be a further maximum combined time of five minutes to speak in
support and up to two persons may speak within the five minutes.

¢ No speaker may speak for more than half this time (two and a half minutes)
UNLESS there are no other requests to speak received by the deadline OR
it is with the agreement of the other speaker.

Submitting a statement to Planning Committee as an alternative to
speaking:

e Anyone who has registered to speak by the deadline may, as an alternative

to attending/speaking in person or virtually, submit a written statement to
be read out on their behalf.

e Statements must be provided to Democratic Services by 10.00am of the
working day before the meeting.

¢ A statement must not exceed 450 words (and will be treated as amounting
to two and a half minutes of speaking time).

Please refer to the full Protocol document for further guidance.

Note: The public speaking procedure is separate from and is not intended
to replicate or replace the procedure for submitting a written representation
on a planning application to the Planning Offices during the consultation
period.

Schedule of Planning Applications

To consider the planning applications as listed below.

See planning application reports circulated with the agenda, as updated by
the agenda addendum sheet to be published one working day before the
meeting.

Councillors are requested where possible to submit any technical
guestions on planning applications to the Case Officer at least 48
hours before the meeting to ensure this information can be provided
at the meeting.

The running order in which planning applications will be considered will be
as listed on this agenda sheet.

The Chair retains discretion to propose an amendment to the running order
at the meeting if it is considered expedient to do so.

Members will appreciate that the copy drawings attached to planning
application reports are reduced from the applicants’ original and detail, in
some cases, may be difficult to read. To search for planning applications,
the following link will take you to the main webpage where you can click on
a tile (area) to search for an application. The link is:

https://mww.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning -and-buildi ng-control/Search-and -
comment-on-applications/Search-and-comment-on-applications.aspx



https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Search-and-comment-on-applications/Search-and-comment-on-applications.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Search-and-comment-on-applications/Search-and-comment-on-applications.aspx

b)

Councillors are advised that if they wish to refer to specific drawings or
plans which are not included in these papers, they should contact the Case
Officer at least 48 hours before the meeting to ensure that these can be
made available.

To view Local Plans, again, the following link will take you to the main
webpage where you can click on a tile to view the local plan for that area.
The link is:

https://mwww.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning -and-building-control/Planning-
policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx

39 Brudenell Avenue, Poole BH13 7NW
Canford Cliffs Ward

APP/23/01263/F

Demolition of the existing building and construction of seven apartments
with associated parking, landscaping and access.

West Hants Lawn Tennis Club, Roslin Road South, Bournemouth BH3
7EF

Talbot and Branksome Woods Ward
7-2024-5036-BF

Replacement of a single tennis court with 2 new padel tennis courts with
associated screens, fencing and floodlights.

11 Ashridge Avenue, Bournemouth BH10 6BX

Kinson Ward
7-2024-29176

Alteration to front dormer window and extend roof over two storey rear
extension.

19-62

63 - 80

81-96

No other items of business can be considered unless the Chair decides the matter is urgent for reasons that must
be specified and recorded in the Minutes.


https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Planning-policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Planning-policy/Current-Local-Plans/Current-Local-Plan.aspx

This page is intentionally left blank



Present:

Agenda ltem 4

—-1-
BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL
WESTERN BCP PLANNING COMMITTEE
Minutes of the Meeting held on 23 May 2024 at 10.00 am

Present:-
Clr M Le Poidevin — Chair
ClIr J Clements — Vice-Chair

ClIr J Challinor, Clir A Chapmanlaw, Clir P Cooper, Clir M Dower,
ClIr B Hitchcock, Cllr S McCormack, Clir K Salmon and
Clir P Sidaway

Apologies

Apologies were received from Clir C Adams.

Substitute Members

There were no substitute members for this meeting.

Election of Chair

The Chairman of the Council presided over this item and sought
nominations for the election of Chair. A nomination was received and
seconded for Clir M Le Poidevin. No further nominations were received.

RESOLVED that Clir M Le Poidevin be elected as Chair of the Western
BCP Planning Committee for the Municipal Year 2024/25.

Election of Vice Chair

The Chair sought nominations for the election of Vice Chair. A nomination
was received and seconded for Clir J Clements. No further nominations
were received.

RESOLVED that Clir J Clements be elected as Vice-Chair of the
Western BCP Planning Committee for the Municipal Year 2024/25.

Declarations of Interests

There were no declarations of interest.
Public Issues

The Chair advised that there were a number of requests to speak on the
planning applications as detailed below.



—2_
WESTERN BCP PLANNING COMMITTEE
23 May 2024

Schedule of Planning Applications

The Committee considered planning application reports, copies of which
had been circulated and which appear as Appendices A — B to these
minutes in the Minute Book. A Committee Addendum Sheet was published
on 22 May 2024 and appears as Appendix C to these minutes.

Branksome Chine Cafe, Pinecliff Road, Poole BH13 6LP

Canford Cliffs Ward
APP/23/01286/F

Internal and external alterations and extensions to the existing
café/restaurant premises. Vary condition 8 (operating hours) of
APP/22/00159/F.

Public Representations
Objectors
+ None registered

Applicant/Supporters
+ Matt Annen, on behalf of the applicant

Ward Councillors
% None registered

RESOLVED to GRANT permission in accordance with the
recommendation set out in the officer’s report as updated in the
Committee Addendum dated 22.05.24 and with the following
additional conditions requested by the Committee:

e Temporary permission for atrial twelve month period
e Retractable roofto be closed between 23.00hrs and 07.00hrs
the following day

Reasons:

The Committee agreed that granting temporary consent for a trial period of
twelve months would enable any impact from the variation to the operation
hours of the café/restaurant to be assessed over all seasons.

The Committee noted that the applicant's agent reported at the meeting
that should the variation be granted the applicant did not intend to open the
retractable roof beyond the current hours of 23:00hrs. In view of this the
Committee felt it was reasonable to add this as a condition to the variation.

Voting: Unanimous



- 3=
WESTERN BCP PLANNING COMMITTEE
23 May 2024

Note: Clir S McCormack left the meeting during this item and did not return

for the remainder of the meeting, therefore did not speak or vote on this
item.

13 - 15 High Street, Poole BH15 1AB - Update report

Poole Town Ward
APP/21/01199/F

Redevelopment of the site to form 40 apartments and 424sgm of class E
floor space following the partial demolition of existing buildings.

The Committee was provided with an update on the planning application.
Members were advised that a refusal of planning permission was now
recommended due to the failure of the applicant to complete a Section 106
Agreement in accordance with the earlier resolution of the Council's
Planning Committee on 4 October 2022.

Public Representations
Objectors
+ None registered

Applicant/Supporters
+» Giles Moir, on behalf of the applicant

Ward Councillors
% None registered

RESOLVED to GRANT permission in accordance with the Committee’s
original resolution on 4 October 2022 but subject to the completion of
the Section 106 Agreement by no later than 31 August 2024. Should
the Section 106 Agreement not be completed by 31 August 2024 the
Committee delegates authority to the Head of Planning Operations to
determine the application.

Reason:

The Committee was mindful of the officer's recommendation to refuse the
application for the reasons set out in the report but in the circumstances
Members agreed to extend the time limit for the Section 106 agreement to
be completed to provide the applicant with a final opportunity to complete
the agreement by a defined date.

Voting: Unanimous

Note: Clir McCormack was not present, therefore did not speak or vote on
this item.



10.

—4—
WESTERN BCP PLANNING COMMITTEE
23 May 2024

Committee Protocols

The purpose of this item was to confirm the following local protocols
adopted by the preceding BCP Planning Committee and set out as
schedules in Part 6 of the Council’'s Constitution in relation to:

e Protocol for Speaking/Statements at Planning Committee (already
circulated with Agenda ltem 6)

e Planning Committee Site Visit Protocol

e Planning Committee Protocol in relation to Pre Application
Presentations

Committee members raised a number of points in discussion:

A number of areas were suggested for future training and guidance,
including site visits and call-in procedure. Officers agreed to look at
arrangements for delivering training to both committees, including
shorter, thematic sessions. Members were encouraged to put
forward topics for consideration.

The different mechanisms for agreeing a site visit were explained.
Members were advised that committee site visits were undertaken
by exception when it was not possible to envisage a development
proposal from the public domain.

A number of issues were raised around probity and best practice,
including how to deal with lobbying and the need for all committee
members to have access to the same information. Members also
discussed their role as ward councillors in providing information and
support to residents to access and engage with the process. The
Committee was referred to the Local Code of Best Practice in
Planning, in Part 6 of Constitution which provided guidance on these
issues. Members were advised to contact the Monitoring Officer
should they require further advice.

It was noted that there were various mechanisms for third parties to
raise objections to planning applications, including submitting a
representation, asking an officer to view a development site from
their property (including after the consultation period) and registering
to speak at committee.

RESOLVED that the Western BCP Planning Committee accepts the
Committee Protocols.

Voting: Unanimous

The meeting ended at 11.26 am

10



! !gen!a ‘tersnch!edule 4

PLANNING COMMITTEE - PROTOCOL FOR SPEAKING /
STATEMENTS AT PLANNING COMMITTEE

1. Introduction

1.1 The following protocol facilitates opportunities for applicant(s), objector(s) and
supporter(s) to express their views on planning applications which are to be
considered at a Planning Committee meeting. It does not therefore relate to
any other item considered at Planning Committee in respect of which public
speaking/questions shall only be permitted at the discretion of the Chair.

1.2  This protocol is separate from and is not intended to replicate or replace the
procedure for submitting a written representation on a planning application to
the Council during the consultation period.

1.3 The email address for any person who wishes to register a request to
speak and / or submit a statement for the purposes of this protocol or to
correspond with Democratic Services on any aspect of this protocol is
democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

2. Order of presentation of an application

2.1 The running order in which planning applications are heard will usually follow
the order as appears on the agenda unless the Planning Committee otherwise
determines.

2.2 In considering each application the Committee will normally take contributions
in the following order:

a) presenting officer(s);
b) objector(s);
c) applicant(s) /supporter(s);

d) councillor who has called in an application (who is not a voting member of
the Planning Committee in relation to that application) / ward councillor(s);

e) questions and discussion by voting members of the Planning Committee,
which may include seeking points of clarification.

3. Guidance relating to the application of this protocol

3.1 The allocation of an opportunity to speak / provide a statement to be read out
at Planning Committee under this protocol is not intended as a guarantee of a
right to speak / have a statement read out.

3.2  The Chair has absolute discretion as to how this protocol shall be applied in
respect of any individual application so far as it relates to the conduct of the

1
11


mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

meeting and as provided for in this protocol including whether in any
circumstance it should be waived, added to or otherwise modified. This
discretion includes the opportunity to speak (or submit a statement), varying
the speaking time allowed and the number of speakers. In the event of any
uncertainty as to the interpretation or application of any part of this protocol a
determination by the Chair will be conclusive.

3.3 A failure to make a request to speak / submit a statement in accordance with
any one or more of the requirements of this protocol will normally result in the
request / submission of the statement not being treated as validly made and
therefore not accepted.

4. Electronic facilities relating to Planning Committee

4.1. All electronic broadcasting and recording of a Planning Committee meeting by
the Council and the provision of an opportunity to speak remotely at such a
meeting is dependent upon such matters being accessible, operational and
useable during the meeting. As a consequence, a meeting other than a wholly
virtual meeting may proceed, including consideration of all applications relating
to it, even if it cannot be electronically broadcast, recorded and/or any person
is unable to speak / be heard at the time when the opportunity to do so on an
application is made available.

5. Attending in person at a Planning Committee meeting / wholly
virtual meetings

5.1. Unless otherwise stated on the Council’'s website and/or the agenda Planning
Committee will be held as a physical (in person) meeting. A Planning
Committee meeting will only be held as a wholly virtual meeting during such
time as a decision has been taken by BCP Council that committee meetings of
the Council may be held in this way. In the event of there being a discretion as
to whether a Planning Committee meeting shall be held as a wholly virtual
meeting, then the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair shall be able
to determine whether such a discretion should be applied.

6. Provisions for speaking at Planning Committee (whether in
person or remotely)

6.1. Any applicant, objector or supporter who wishes to speak at a Planning
Committee meeting must register a request to speak in writing with Democratic
Services at democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk by 10.00 am of the
working day before the meeting.

6.2. A person registering a request to speak must:

a) make clear as to the application(s) on which they wish to speak and
whether they support or oppose the application; and

b) provide contact details including a telephone number and/or email address
at which they can be reached / advised that they have been given an
opportunity to speak.


mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

6.3. There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes allowed for any
person(s) objecting to an application to speak. A further combined five minute
maximum will also be allowed for any supporter(s). Up to two people may
speak during each of these allotted times (the applicant(s) and any agent for
the applicant(s) will each count as separate speakers in support). No speaker
may speak for more than half this time (i.e. two and a half minutes) unless:

a) there is no other speaker who has also been allotted to speak for the
remainder of the five minutes allowed;

b) or the other allotted speaker fails to be present or is unable to be heard (in
the case of remote speaking), at the Planning Committee meeting at the
time when the opportunity to speak on the application is made available; or

c) the other allotted speaker expressly agrees to the speaker using more than
half of the total speaking time allowed.

6.4. If more than two people seek to register a wish to speak for either side, an
officer from Democratic Services may ask those seeking the opportunity to
speak to appoint up to two representatives to address the Planning Committee.
In the absence of agreement as to representatives, entitlement to speak will
normally be allocated in accordance with the order when a request was
received by Democratic Services. However, in the event of an applicant(s) and
/ or the agent of the applicant(s) wishing to speak in support of an application
such person(s) will be given the option to elect to speak in preference to any
other person registered to speak in support.

6.5. A person registered to speak may appoint a different person to speak on their
behalf. The person registered to speak should normally notify Democratic
Services of this appointment prior to the time that is made available to speak
on the application.

6.6. A person may at any time withdraw their request to speak by notifying
Democratic Services by email or in person on the day of that meeting.
However, where such a withdrawal is made after the deadline date for receipt
of requests then the available slot will not be made available for a new speaker.
In cases where more than two requests to speak within the allocated five
minutes were received by the deadline, Democratic Services will, where
practicable, reallocate the slot in date receipt order.

6.7. During consideration of a planning application at a Planning Committee
meeting, no question should be put or comment made to any councillor sitting
on the Planning Committee by any applicant, objector or supporter whether as
part of a speech or otherwise.



7.1,

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

9.1.

10.

10.1.

Questions to person speaking under this protocol

Questions will not normally be asked of any person who has been given the
opportunity to speak for the purpose of this Protocol. However, the Chair at
their absolute discretion may raise points of clarification.

Speaking as a ward councillor or other BCP councillor
(whether in person or remotely)

Any ward councillor shall usually be afforded an opportunity to speak on an
application at the Planning Committee meeting at which it is considered. Every
ward councillor who is given the opportunity to speak will have up to five
minutes each.

At the discretion of the Chair, any other councillor of BCP Council not sitting as
a voting member of the Planning Committee may also be given the opportunity
to speak on an application being considered at Planning Committee. Every
such councillor will have up to five minutes each.

Any member of the Planning Committee who has exercised their call in powers
to bring an application to the Planning Committee for decision should not vote
on that item but subject to any requirements of the Member Code of Conduct,
may have or, at the discretion of the Chair, be given the opportunity to speak in
connection with it as a ward councillor or otherwise in accordance with the
speaking provisions of this protocol. Such a member will usually be invited after
speaking to move themselves from the area where voting members of the
Planning Committee are sitting and may be requested to leave the room until
consideration of that application has been concluded.

Speaking as a Parish or Town Council representative
(whether in person or remotely)

A Parish or Town Council representative who wishes to speak as a
representative of that Parish or Town Council must register as an objector or
supporter and the same provisions for speaking as apply to any other objector
or supporter applies to them. This applies even if that representative is also a
councillor of BCP Council.

Content of speeches (whether in person or remotely) and use
of supporting material

Speaking must be done in the form of an oral representation. This should only
refer to planning related issues as these are the only matters the Planning
Committee can consider when making decisions on planning applications.
Speakers should normally direct their points to reinforcing or amplifying
planning representations already made to the Council in writing in relation to
the application being considered. Guidance on what constitutes planning
considerations is included as part of this protocol. Speakers must take care to
avoid saying anything that might be libellous, slanderous, otherwise abusive to

4
14




any person or group, including the applicant, any officer or councillor or might
result in the disclosure of any personal information for which express consent
has not been given.

10.2. A speaker who wishes to provide or rely on any photograph, illustration or other
visual material when speaking (in person or remotely) must submit this to
Democratic Services by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. All
such material must be in an electronic format to be agreed by Democratic
Services and will usually be displayed on the speaker’s behalf by the presenting
officer. The maximum number of slides to be displayed must not exceed five.
Material provided after this time or in a format not agreed will not be accepted.
The circulation or display of hard copies of such material at the Planning
Committee meeting itself will normally not be allowed. In the interests of
fairness, any material to be displayed must have already been submitted to and
received by the Council as part of a representation/submission in relation to the
application by the date of agenda publication for that Planning Committee
meeting.

10.3. The ability to display material on screen is wholly dependent upon the
availability and operation of suitable electronic equipment at the time of the
Planning Committee meeting and cannot be guaranteed. Every person making
a speech should therefore ensure that it is not dependent on such information
being displayed.

11. Remote speaking at Planning Committee

11.1. In circumstances where the Council has put in place electronic facilities which
enable a member of the public to be able to speak remotely to a Planning
Committee meeting, a person may request the opportunity to speak remotely
via those electronic facilities using their own equipment. In circumstances other
than a wholly virtual meeting this would be as an alternative to attending the
meeting in person. The provisions of this protocol relating to speaking at
Planning Committee shall, unless the context otherwise necessitates, equally
apply to remote speaking.

11.2. The opportunity to speak remotely is undertaken at a person’s own risk on the
understanding that should any technical issues affect their ability to participate
remotely the meeting may still proceed to hear the item on which they wish to
speak without their participation.

11.3. A person attending to speak remotely may at any time be required by the Chair
or the Democratic Services Officer to leave any electronic facility that may be
provided.

12. Non-attendance / inability to be heard at Planning Committee

12.1. ltis solely the responsibility of a person who has been given an opportunity to
speak on an application at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person
or remotely) to ensure that they are present for that meeting at the time when
an opportunity to speak is made available to them.

12.2. A failure / inability by any person to attend and speak in person or remotely at
a Planning Committee meeting at the time made available for that person to
speak on an application will normally be deemed a withdrawal of their wish to



speak on that application. This will not therefore usually be regarded as a
reason of itself to defer or prevent an application from being heard.

12.3. This protocol includes provisions enabling the opportunity to provide a
statement as an alternative to speaking in person / as a default option in the
event of a person being unable to speak at the appropriate meeting time.

13. Submission of statement as an alternative to speaking / for
use in default

13.1. A person (including a councillor of BCP Council) who has registered to speak,
may submit a statement to be read out on their behalf as an alternative to
speaking at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely).

13.2. Further, any person speaking on an application at Planning Committee may, at
their discretion, additionally submit a statement which can be read out as
provided for in this protocol in the event of not being able to attend and speak
in person or remotely at the time when an opportunity is made available for that
person to speak on the application. The person should identify that this is the
purpose of the statement.

14. Provisions relating to a statement
14.1 Any statement submitted for the purpose of this protocol:

a) must not exceed 450 words in total unless the statement is provided by a
ward councillor or any other councillor who is not voting on the application
under consideration in which case the statement may consist of up to 900
words;

b) must have been received by Democratic Services by 10.00am of the
working day before the meeting by emailing
democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

c) when submitted by a member of the public (as opposed to a councillor of
BCP Council), will be treated as amounting to two and a half minutes of
the total time allotted for speaking notwithstanding how long it does in fact
take to read out;

d) must not normally be modified once the deadline time and date for receipt
of the statement by Democratic Services has passed unless such
modification is requested by an officer from Democratic Services; and

e) will normally be read out aloud by an officer from Democratic Services
having regard to the order of presentation identified in this protocol.

14.2 A person who has been given the right to speak and who has submitted a
statement in accordance with this protocol may at any time withdraw that
statement prior to it being read out by giving notice to Democratic Services.
Where such withdrawal occurs after the deadline date for registering a
request to speak has passed, then a further opportunity for a statement to be
submitted will not be made available. If the statement that has been
withdrawn was submitted as an alternative to speaking, then if the person

6
16


mailto:democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

withdrawing the statement wishes instead to exercise their opportunity to
speak in person they should notify Democratic Services on or before the time
of withdrawing the statement.

15. Assessment of information / documentation / statement

15.1. BCP Council reserves the right to check any statement and any information /
documentation (including any photograph, illustration or other visual material)
provided to it for use at a Planning Committee meeting and to prevent the use
of such information / documentation in whole or part, in particular, if it:

a) is considered to contain information of a kind that might be libellous,
slanderous, abusive to any party including an applicant or might result in
the disclosure of any personal information for which express consent has
not been given; and / or

b) is identified as having anything on it that is considered could be an
electronic virus, malware or similar.

15.2 The Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair shall have the absolute
discretion to determine whether any such statement / information /
documentation should not be used / read out in whole or part. If
circumstances reasonably permit, Democratic Services may seek to request a
person modify such statement / information / documentation to address any
issue identified.

16. Guidance on what amounts to a material planning
consideration

16.1. As at the date of adoption of this protocol, the National Planning Portal provides
the following guidance on material planning considerations:

“A material consideration is a matter that should be taken into account in
deciding a planning application or on an appeal against a planning decision.
Material considerations can include (but are not limited to):

Overlooking/loss of privacy

Loss of light or overshadowing

Parking

Highway safety

Traffic

Noise

Effect on listed building and conservation area
Layout and density of building

Design, appearance and materials
Government policy

Disabled persons' access

Proposals in the Development Plan

Previous planning decisions (including appeal decisions)
Nature conservation



However, issues such as loss of view, or negative effect on the value of
properties are not material considerations.”

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/fags/fag/4/what are material considerations
#:~text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,L. 0ss%200f%20light%20
or%20overshadowing

Note
For the purpose of this protocol:

(a) reference to the “Chair” means the Chair of Planning Committee and shall
include the Vice Chair of Planning Committee if the Chair is at any time
unavailable or absent and the person presiding at the meeting of a Planning
Committee at any time that both the Chair and Vice Chair of Planning
Committee are unavailable or absent;

(b) reference to the Head of Planning includes any officer nominated by them for
the purposes of this protocol and if at any time the Head of Planning in
unavailable, absent or the post is vacant / ceases to exist, then the
Development Management Manager or if also unavailable / absent or that post
is vacant/no longer exists then the next most senior officer in the development
management team (or any of them if more than one) who is first contactable;

(c) reference to ‘ward councillor means a councillor in whose ward the application
being considered at a meeting of Planning Committee is situated in whole or
part and who is not a voting member of the Planning Committee in respect of
the application being considered; and

(d) a “wholly virtual meeting” is a Planning Committee meeting where no one
including officers and councillors physically attend the meeting; however, a
meeting will not be held as a “wholly virtual meeting” unless legislation permits

Adopted by the Planning Committee on 17.11.22 and updated on 20.7.23


https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/faqs/faq/4/what_are_material_considerations#:%7E:text=A%20material%20consideration%20is%20a,Loss%20of%20light%20or%20overshadowing

Planning Committee

Agenda ltem 6a

BCP

Council

Application Address

39 Brudenell Avenue, Poole, BH13 7NW

Proposal

Demolition of the existing building and construction of
seven apartments with associated parking, landscaping
and access.

Application Number

APP/23/01263/F

Applicant

Cullen Property Group Ltd

Agent

Spruce Town Planning Ltd

Ward and Ward Member(s)

Canford Cliffs:
Clir John Challinor
Clir Gavin Wright

Report Status

Public

Meeting Date

18 July 2024

Summary of Recommendation

Grant with conditions in accordance with the details
set out below for the reasons as set outin the
report

Reason for Referral to Planning
Committee

Call-in from former Clir Haines for the following reasons;

| note that there is an application for this address to
replace a large single detached dwelling with 7
apartments. This is a concern as the prevailing
character of this road is large detached dwellings in
generous plots. There has been some sub-division but
nonetheless single detached houses. As far as | can
recall, there are no blocks of flats in Brudenell Avenue.

As this is a departure of the prevailing character of the
road, | am minded to call this in.

19




Following CliIr Haines’ resignation, Clir Challinor
confirmed that the application be determined by the
planning committee.

Case Officer Amelia Rose

Is the proposal EIA Development? |No

Description of Proposal

1.

The proposal seeks to demolish the existing two storey dwelling on site and erect a
block of seven apartments with parking and associated landscaping.

The existing dwelling is a large two storey dwelling on site that appears to date from
the 1950s. The dwelling sits on a large plot and is proposed to be demolished to
enable construction of a 4-storey block of seven apartments with basement level
parking, situated in a similar position on site to the existing dwelling, fronting onto
Brudenell Avenue. Access would remain from Brudenell Avenue although the access
position will be moved to the south with turning, parking and communal cycle and bin
storage.

Each flat would have two bedrooms with an open plan kitchen/living room. They would
all benefit from outside amenity space including balconies and a communal garden to
the rear.

It should be noted that the application pre-dates the Government requirements for
statutory Biodiversity Net Gain and therefore there is no requirement for the application
to provide the 10% BNG but it does provide biodiversity enhancement in line with
relevant local plan policy.

Description of Site and Surroundings

5.

The application site is occupied by a two-storey detached house with some
accommodation in the existing roof, located on the east side of Brudenell Avenue
within a mixed use — residential and tourism - area to the south-west of Canford Cliffs
village, which offers a range of restaurants and local shops. The site consists of a 2-
storey detached dwellinghouse with an integral garage and outdoor swimming pool,
set on a large plot of land fronting to the west. The existing property is set back within
its plot with a driveway and parking to the front (west), as well as a front garden. The
site slopes up from the road meaning that the existing dwelling is elevated above the
highway, and the dwelling is rendered and painted cream, with a tiled roof. There is a
long garden area to the rear (east) of the building, laid out as a domestic garden with
lawn and patio areas around the outdoor pool. There are several mature trees along
the north, south and east boundaries of which are protected by an area Tree
Preservation Order, and the site is surrounded by a high hedge on the southern and
western (front) boundaries. It is bordered on the eastern (rear) boundary by a public
right of way footpath connecting Brudenell Road to Nairn Road.

There are a mixture of property designs in the area, with several examples of modern

dwellings in the immediate vicinity. There are a variety of properties within this area
comprising a mixture of chalet bungalows and two to three storey detached dwellings

20




of various designs, height, width and depth, and three to five storey blocks of flats, set
within verdant surroundings.

Brudenell Avenue and the adjacent streets are characterised by large dwellings or
apartment blocks set within generous plots, a number of which have been subdivided
and redeveloped in recent years. In this part of Brudenell Avenue and Brudenell Road,
the buildings vary in age, size, design and form. Houses are interspersed with
apartment blocks; traditional and modern dwellings sit alongside each other, many of
which have been extended or modernised. The pattern of development is generally
consistent, in the sense that each building fronts the highway and is set back from the
road allowing for parking and front gardens as well as generous rear gardens. There
are examples of plot severances and flatted developments within the vicinity that have
resulted in reduced plot widths and mixed densities.

The scale of the existing buildings within this section of Brudenell Avenue and the
generous plots create a characteristic spaciousness around the buildings. There are
some prominent trees along the north, south and east boundaries of the site, which are
all protected by TPOs.

Relevant Planning History:

Planning history of the site —

9.

APP/23/01117/PA - Prior approval for the construction of a new second floor with
hipped roof. To be the same footprint as the principal part of the original first floor. The
new second floor will have windows to the front and rear elevations only. Granted —
14/11/2023.

37 Brudenell Avenue — adjacent plot to the north:

10.

APP/12/01350/F - Demolition of the existing dwelling and garage and the construction
of two detached dwellings with integral double garages. Granted — 18/12/2012.

7 Brudenell Road — adjacent plot to the south:

11.

12.

APP/23/00736/F - Demolition of the existing house and garage and erection of 1
detached dwelling and a block of 5 apartments including formation of new driveways
with associated access, car & cycle parking, bin storage and associated boundary
treatments. Granted 22/12/2023.

APP/24/00454/F - Demolition of the existing house and garage and erection of 1
detached dwelling and a block of 5 apartments including formation of new driveways
with associated access, car & cycle parking, bin storage and associated boundary
treatments at 7 Brudenell Road, Poole, BH13 7NN. Variation of condition 2 and 6 of
planning permission APP/23/00736/F to include an additional recessed floor on both
the flat building and the dwellinghouse. Addition of 2no. car lifts for the dwellinghouse
on the driveway and replacement of garage on the ground floor of the dwellinghouse to
a proposed as a gym, sauna and steam room. Application currently under
consideration.

9 Brudenell Road — adjacent plot to the east:

13.

APP/22/01052/F — Demolition of existing building and erection of a block of 9
apartments with associated access and parking. Granted 14/02/2023.

21



14.

APP/23/00292/F — Variation of condition 21 of planning permission APP/22/01052/F

(demolition of existing building and erection of a block of 9 apartments with associated
access and parking) to enable a minor material amendment in the form of an
enlargement to the approved second floor accommodation. Granted 09/062023.

Constraints

15.

There are protected trees to the rear (west) and sides (north and south) of the site
lying within an area TPO designation. The site lies within 5km (but not within 400m) of
the Dorset Heathlands SSSI. The site is also located within the Coastal Zone and
Shoreline Character Area.

Public Sector Equalities Duty

16.

In accordance with section 149 Equality Act 2010, in considering this proposal due
regard has been had to the need to —

eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;

advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not shareit.

Other relevant duties

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

In accordance with regulation 9(3) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended) (“the Habitat Regulations), for the purposes of this
application, appropriate regard has been had to the relevant Directives (as defined in
the Habitats Regulations) in so far as they may be affected by the determination.

For the purposes of section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006,
in assessing this application, consideration has been given as to any appropriate
action to further the “general biodiversity objective”.

For the purposes of this application, in accordance with section 2 of the Self-build and
Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, regard has been had to the register that the Council
maintains of individuals and associations of individuals who are seeking to acquire

serviced plots in the Council’s area for their own self-build and custom housebuilding.

For the purposes of this application, in accordance with section 17 Crime and Disorder
Act 1998, due regard has been had to, including the need to do all that can reasonably
be done to prevent, (a) crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); (b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol
and other substances in its area; and (c) re-offending in its area.

For the purposes of this report regard has been had to the Human Rights Act 1998,
the Human Rights Convention and relevant related issues of proportionality.

Consultations

Wessex Water — no objection.

BCP Biodiversity — no objection subject to conditions — recommendations as set out
within sections 6.0. Biodiversity Enhancements for Biodiversity Net Gain and 7.0.

22



Mitigation of ‘Ecological Impact Assessment 39 Brudenell Ave, Poole, Dorset BH13
7NW’ by KP Ecology, to be secured by condition that they shall be implemented in full.
An informative shall be placed on any approval stating that if bats are found during
demolition, works should cease, Natural England contacted and works put back into
place.

BCP Waste — no objection - provision should be made for 1 x 1100L and 1 x 660L
recycling bins and 1 x 1100L refuse bins. The bin store is a suitable size to
accommodate the number of containers required and is within 10 metres of the
highway to facilitate collections.

Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue —no objection — consideration should be
given to the size of the access of the site and positions of fire hydrants.

Natural England — no objection subject to mitigation being secured.

BCP Arboricultural Officer — no objection subject to conditions — All protected trees
of merit are to be retained and protected with this development. The hedge along the
front will be lost which will open up views into the site, this could be mitigated by some
new landscaping. Conditions required to ensure works are carried out in accordance
with the arboricultural method statement, details of the arboriculturally sensitive
operations being provided and approved in writing by the LPA prior to construction,
and a landscape plan being submitted and approved prior to construction.

BCP Highways — no objection subjectto conditions — access would be acceptable,
parking standards are appropriate. Conditions required to ensure Parking/ Turning
prior to occupation, Visibility Splays, provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points. A
condition is required regarding the under croft car park which shall be designed and
constructed having regard to the Institution of Structural Engineers Publication ‘Design
Recommendations for Multi-storey and Underground Car Parks’ (2011) or any future
update and a scheme and program of works required to close the existing access
(which is to be made redundant) and for the installation of a new footway crossing to
the access hereby approved, including raising the existing dropped kerbs and
reinstating the footway to the redundant access and providing a new dropped kerb
crossing to the approved access, and the alteration of the road markings on the
highway outside the site.

BCP Urban Design — support subject to conditions — support for provision of
dedicated pedestrian and cycle route into the site, the entrance would be at the front
facing the street, making it well visible and easy to find. Support for soft landscaping, a
landscaping plan should be provided involving planting and soft landscaping.
Suggestion of provision of a defensible solution to undercroft parking to resist crime.
Cycle storage would be easily accessible from the street and the bin store would be
appropriately concealed to the front of the site with a green roof to reduce its impact on
the streetscene.

The proposed scale and massing is considered acceptable and building line follows
that of adjacent properties, with the recessed upper floors reducing bulk. The building
is considered in keeping with the character and appearance of the area. Concerns
over some single aspect units.

23



The more modern design makes visual reference to the character of the area and
therefore would not be opposed. An energy statement will be required.

- BCP FCERM - support subject to conditions — drainage plan should be secured by
condition.

- BCP Environmental Health — no objection subject to condition to secure control of
dust during demolition, hours of operation and to restrict burning on site.

- BCP Rights of Way — no comment received.

- Amphibian and Reptile Conservation Trust —no comment received.
- Dorset Wildlife Trust — no comment received.

- BCP Economic Development Trust — no comment received.

- Dorset Clinical Commission Group —no comment received.

- Dorset Police — no comment received.

- Dorset Police Crime Prevention Officer —no comment received.

Representations

22. Three site notices were posted outside the boundaries of the site on 14" November
2023 and two additional site notices on 13" February 2024.

23. Five representations have been received from neighbours, objecting on the following
grounds:

- Not in keeping with the scale and character of the locality

- Overbearing and loss of privacy

Loss of a view

Noise, congestion and inconvenience

- Removal of several TPO trees

Would set a precedent — no apartments in Brudenell Avenue

- Overdevelopment of the site — disproportionate to the size of the site

- Increase in number of units on site will change demographics of the area and impact

ambience and privacy

Lack of architectural interest in the building

- Was an understanding among Council members 30 years ago for no apartments to be
built in Brudenell Avenue

Key Issues

24. The key issues involved with this proposal are:

Principle of the proposed development

- Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Affordable housing

Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Impact on neighbouring living conditions

24



- Living conditions of prospective occupiers
- Housing for an ageing population

- Impact on parking and highway safety
- Impact on trees and landscaping

- Biodiversity

- Sustainability

- Drainage

- Shoreline views

- Waste collection

- Land contamination

- Other considerations

- SAMM/CIL compliance.

25. These issues will be considered along with other matters relevant to this proposal
below.

Policy context

26. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning
applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan for an area,
except where material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan in this
case comprises the Poole Local Plan (2018).

Poole Local Plan 2018:

o PP1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development

o PP2 Amount and Broad Location of Development

o PP8 Type and mix of housing

o PP11  Affordable housing

o PP12  Housing for an ageing population

o PP27 Design

o PP30 Heritage Assets

o PP31 Poole’s coastand countryside

o PP32 Poole’s Nationally, European and Internationally Important Sites
o PP33 Biodiversity and Geodiversity

o PP34  Transport strategy

. PP35 A Safe, Connected and Accessible Transport Network
. PP37  Building Sustainable Homes and Businesses

o PP38 Managing Flood Risk

o PP39 Delivering Poole’s Infrastructure

. PP40  Viability

27. It should be noted that the emerging BCP Local Plan has been published and has now
been submitted for examination in June 2024, however at this stage, the emerging
Local Plan attracts limited weight, although its evidence base may on occasion have
information that could be material.

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)

o BCP Parking Standards SPD (Adopted January 2021)
o The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 SPD (Adopted April 2020)

25



o Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour SPD (Adopted April 2017)

o Poole Harbour Recreation 2019-2024 Supplementary Planning Document SPD
(Adopted April 2020)

o Affordable Housing SPD (Adopted November 2011)

o Shoreline Character Areas SPG (Adopted 2004)

o Heritage Assets SPD (Adopted 2013)

National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF” / “Framework”) (December 2023)

The policies in the Framework are material considerations which should be taken into
accountin dealing with applications.

Section 2 — Achieving Sustainable Development

Paragraph 11 —
“Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

For decision-taking this means:

(c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or

(d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

(i)  the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

(i)  any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies of this Framework taken as a whole.”

Section 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Section 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Section 11 — Making effective use of land

Section 12 — Achieving well designed places

Section 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Planning Assessment

Principle of development

28. The Poole Local Plan sets out a spatial planning framework to meet objectively
assessed needs to 2033. In accordance with Policy PP01, the Council will take a
positive approach when considering development proposals that reflects the
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF. In terms of
meeting housing needs, a strategic objective of the Poole Local Plan is to deliver a
wide range and mix of homes in the most sustainable locations.

29. Policy PP02 identifies the amount and broad locations of development and states that
the majority of new housing will be directed to the mostaccessible locations within Poole,
these being the town centre, district and local centres and locations close to the
sustainable transport corridors. The application site, however, is located outside of the
areas that have been identified as the most accessible locations by Policy PP2 of the
Poole Local Plan.

26



30.

31.

32.

Notwithstanding this, Policy PP2 still identifies a need to deliver 1900 units over the plan
period “Elsewhere within the urban area” which would include the application site. In
accordance with Policy PP2 (b), there is still potential for development to come forward
in such areas provided that the scheme is capable of delivering sustainable patterns of
development, including achieving a policy compliant level of affordable housing. The
proposal will also be expected to demonstrate how suitable sustainable transport
measures have been incorporated into the proposal to connect the development with
town, district and local centres, as an alternative to reliance upon the car.

This approach is reinforced by Policy PP34 which also states that new development
will be directed to the most accessible locations which are capable of meeting a range
of local needs and will help to reduce the need for travel, reduce emissions and benefit
air quality, whilst PP35 also states that proposals for new development will be required
to maximise the use of sustainable forms of travel. Significant weight therefore has to
be applied to the provision of additional residential accommodation which meets these
policy objectives.

The proposal is therefore acceptable in principle under Policy PP2 subject to
compliance with the remainder of the Development Plan.

Presumption in favour of sustainable development

33.

34.

35.

36.

At the heart of the NPPF as set out in paragraph 11 is the presumption in favour of
sustainable development, reiterated in Poole Local Plan Policy PPO1.

NPPF Paragraph 11 states that in the case of decision making, the presumption in
favour of sustainable development means that where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are mostimportant for determining the
application are out of date, planning permission should be granted unless policies in
the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provide a clear
reason for refusing the development proposals or any adverse impacts of granting
permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole.

Footnote 8 of paragraph 11 provides that in the case of applications involving the
provision of housing, relevant policies are out of date if the local planning authority is
(i) unable to demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites or (ii) where
the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) result is less than 75% of the housing requirement
over the previous three years.

The 5-year housing supply and HDT results continue to be applied to each Local Plan
area separately until replaced by a BCP Local Plan. In the Poole area there is a 4.1-
year housing land supply with a 20% buffer (a shortfall of 423 homes) and a 2022 HDT
result of 80%. For the purposes of paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the tilted balance is
potentially engaged. However, the site also lies within 5 km of a European Habitat site
and Poole Harbour. The sections below will assess the proposal including in the
context of footnote 7 of the Framework and impacts on relevant habitats sites.

Affordable Housing

37.

Whilst the site is located outside of the areas that have been identified as the most
accessible locations in the Poole Local Plan, development will still be permitted on those
areas provided that the scheme achieves a policy compliant level of affordable housing.

27



38.

39.

40.

Policy PP11 of the Poole Local Plan states that to meet housing needs the Council will
seek to maximise the amount of affordable housing from all housing schemes of 11 or
more homes or over 1,000 square metres in floor space. In this instance, whilst the
proposed development is only for 7 units the overall floor space exceeds 1,000 square
metres. Therefore, the proposed development exceeds one of the thresholds that would
trigger the requirement for the provision of affordable housing. Due to the location of the
application site, the affordable housing target that is to be sought in relation to this
current proposal is 40% affordable housing.

The applicant has provided a Viability Assessment Report, as set out in Policy PP40, to
demonstrate to the Council that the proposal would not be viable if it were policy
compliant. This assessment has been independently evaluated by the DVS. The DVS
concluded that the proposal is not capable of providing any affordable housing
contribution.

The proposal therefore meets the requirements of Policies PP11 and PP40 and the
acceptability of the principle of the proposed development therefore rests with an
assessment of whether it delivers a sustainable pattern of development under PP2.

Impact on the character and appearance of area

41.

42.

43.

44,

45,

Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (2018) states that development will be permitted
where it reflects or enhances local patterns of development in terms of layout, height,
scale, massing, materials, landscaping and visual impact.

PP28 requires that flatted development will be permitted where the plot can
accommodate an appropriate scale and massing of the building; respectful of the
prevailing character of plot coverage within the street; to include the associated
parking, bin storage, cycle stores etc.

The existing dwelling would be demolished, and the dwelling replaced with one block
of seven flats, with undercroft parking to the basement level. The building would be a
maximum width of around 22 metres to the ground floor, stepped in to 21 metres on
the first floor and 15 metres on the second floor, being stepped in from both the north
and south sides with a flat green roof on either side of the stepped parts. The building
would be a maximum depth of 26 metres on the ground floor, stepped in to the front
and rear to 24m on the first floor and 15 metres on the second floor, which would be
set back with a green roof on the flat roof parts. The flat roof would reflect many of the
adjacent developments and a penthouse apartment is proposed at the 3 floor, set
back from each elevation to provide interest and minimise the impact of the top floor.

The building would be set at a similar height to the existing building, which is 2.5
storeys plus a pitched roof, and has permission to be extended upwards to be three
storeys plus the roof. The proposed building would be lower than the fallback position
granted under APP/23/01117/PA (para,. 9 above) which has a height of 24m AOD,
compared to the proposed block of flats which would be 21.9m AOD.

The Prior Approval APP/23/01117/PA, would involve erecting a further floor on a single
dwellinghouse with a hipped roof which would recess into the site on an building with a
depth of approx.. 9m. Compared against the proposed block of 7 flats with 26m depth
and the bulk of the flat roof design, the Prior Approval is considered to have negligible
relevance to an assessment of the physical impacts of the scheme which has been
made in relation to the character of surrounding buildings.. Consequently the consent

28



46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

under APP/23/01117/PA has been given limited weight in the assessment of the
proposals.

The building would be approx.. 800mm higher than 37a Brudenell Avenue which is set
to the north of the proposal and has a similarly inset second floor. The proposal would
be set lower than 37 Brudenell Avenue which has a the ridge height at 26.8m AOD.
This neighbour is set behind 37a at an elevated height but also set well into the site,
being around 40m from the Brudenell Avenue frontage. The scale of the existing
buildings within this section of Brudenell Avenue and the relatively spacious plots
create significant gaps between and around the buildings. The new building is
considered to have been designed and sited to respect the setting and character of the
site and surrounding area.

The proposed layout ensures the spacious character of the area is retained, with the
distances to the north being similar to the existing situation, and takes into account the
other proposed developments adjacent to the site (including application ref
APP/23/00736/F at 7 Brudenell Road to the south), alongside the existing buildings
and neighbouring dwellings including at 37 and 37a Brudenell Avenue to the north.
The new building would continue to respect the varied frontage positions along
Brudenell Avenue, and where possible the existing boundary hedgerow will be
retained. The layout has been informed by the existing site configuration, the positions
of protected trees and the need to respect the existing streetscene and neighbouring
dwellings. Development will therefore be concentrated on the land that has already
been developed towards the front and centre of the site. Development to the rear of
the site due to the rising levels would likely be more prominent.

Contextually, it is considered that the new building would complement the
neighbouring properties on Brudenell Avenue, in particular the contemporary design
and form of the recently constructed 35-37a Brudenell Avenue, of which the proposal
would appear architecturally similar to, and of a similar scale. In terms of the
introduction of a flatted block on the site, there are evidently existing and proposed
apartment buildings nearby as shown on the submitted analytical block plan. There are
permissions for apartments within the sites directly to the south and east of the plot. In
addition, as discussed, the proposal visually appears similar and not significantly larger
than the neighbouring dwellings at 35-37a Brudenell Road. The width is very similar to
or less than many of the buildings within the surrounding context which means that the
proposed development would continue to support the existing pattern of development
and would not look out of place. The block plan demonstrates that the new building will
respect the grain of development and amenity space of the existing homes on this part
of Brudenell Avenue and the adjacent Brudenell Road.

The proposed width and depth of the building and the proposed separation distance
between adjacent building is also commensurate with the wider pattern of
development nearby. The proposal would include a substantial amount of the plot
retained as soft landscaping, which would ensure the built form would not appear
overly dominant and retain an appropriate level of spaciousness within the site. The
resultant plot coverage respects the prevailing pattern of development and the
basement car parking ensures cars will not dominate the site in compliance with Policy
PP27.

In response to the suggestion that there are no flats within Brudenell Avenue, it is

evident there is a variety of dwelling types in the vicinity with flatted blocks apparent at
the junction with Brudenell Road for example. No part of the Local Plan rules out flats

29



51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

in principle on the site, the scheme needs to be considered on its merits in relation to
the Development Plan as a whole

When compared to the existing character of Brudenell Avenue, the scale and massing
of the proposed building is considered acceptable, and although it is slightly more
prominently located within the site than the existing building, the foremost building line
still follows the front line of adjacent properties and the recessed nature of upper floors
helps reduce the building’s bulk. It is therefore overall considered that the proposal
achieves an appropriate balancing between making a more efficient use of the land
whilst also ensuring that the character of the area is effectively preserved and
enhanced, as was agreed by the Urban Design Officer.

The proposal would be of a contemporary design, with large areas of glazing and of a
flat roof nature. This aspect of the proposed scheme would not detract from the wider
character of the area where flat roofed, contemporary buildings are present. Although
the more contemporary architectural approach results in a boxy design, the proposed
building provides articulation in the built form. The urban design officer also noted that
the more modern design makes visual reference to the character of the area and
therefore would not be opposed.

The proposed materials are light grey render and silver birch cladding to the walls, and
aluminium fenestration of a bronze finish. This has limited relevance to the vernacular
building materials in Poole however it is noted that schemes of similar design and
similar contemporary finishing materials have previously been accepted in the vicinity.
It is therefore considered that the proposed design and finishing materials would
respect the character and appearance of the area. In this regard, the proposal would
comply with the provisions of Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan.

With regard to the surrounds of the building, both pedestrian and vehicular accesses
would be made from Brudenell Avenue and the existing vehicle crossover would be
reinstated. It is a positive that a separate pedestrian access is proposed to increase
permeability and improve safety for prospective occupiers and visitors. Part of the front
boundary wall and hedge would be removed to facilitate the new vehicular access. The
hedge and low boundary wall were previously considered to contribute positively
towards the streetscene and enhance the character and appearance of the area by the
Urban Design Officer, however the site visit revealed that the hedge is in poor
condition, in a dying state and has turned black and partially fallen over. Therefore,
despite its previous enhancement to the streetscene when it was in good condition, it
is considered that a condition to ensure the hedge is retained and enhanced where
possible, in accordance with other planting, would improve the current appearance of
the hedge and the appearance of the front of the site in general. In conjunction with a
landscaping condition to ensure that the verdant nature of the site is retained with
native planting, it is considered that the impacts on the streetscene would be
acceptable.

The Urban Design Officer noted that another positive element of this scheme is that
the cycle storage would be integral part of the building with convenient access to the
street. The bin store would be an outbuilding placed at the front of the site,
nonetheless, this would be placed along the northern boundary, concealed behind the
front boundary and vegetation. It would also have a green roof which would help blend
it in with the existing and proposed vegetation and lessen its visual impact on the
street scene and would be acceptable overall.

30



56.

57.

The proposed open parking spaces would be partially hidden behind a landscaped
area, and though there would be a more visible expanse of hardstanding at the
frontage of the development, this has been softened with grass block paving, which
will help reduce visual effect while also offering an opportunity to improve soft
landscaping on site, bringing environmental benefits. In terms of the area of
hardstanding, this would be of a similar size to the existing. Much of the front of the
site and the southern boundary along with the rear would therefore be retained and
enhanced as landscaping.

It is therefore overall considered that the proposal allows for an appropriate increase in
density and is of an appropriate design which would contribute an additional six units
to the housing supply in Poole. The proposed scheme would be in keeping with the
surrounding pattern of development and would have an acceptable impact on the
character and appearance of the area, in accordance with PP27 and PP28 of the
Poole Local Plan 2018.

Impact on amenities of neighbouring residents

58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan states that development will be permitted where it
is compatible with surrounding uses and would not result in a harmful impact on
amenity for local residents and future occupiers in terms of sunlight, daylight, privacy,
noise and whether it would be overbearing/oppressive; and provides satisfactory
external and internal amenity space for existing and future occupants.

The NPPF states that planning decisions should provide attractive, welcoming and
distinctive places to live and visit; create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible
and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing
and future users (para.135).

The proposed block would be setin spacious surrounds and would be setin from
either side of the north and south side boundaries. On the northern side boundary the
proposal would be set slightly further in than the existing dwelling, and set slightly
closer to the side boundary to the south than the existing dwelling, where the existing
swimming pool lies. The second floor would be setin from the first floor which would
appear a similar height to the existing dwelling.

With regard to the impacts on dwellings to the north, numbers 37 and 37a Brudenell
Avenue are large contemporary style dwellings of three (lower ground, ground and first
floors) and four storeys (lower ground — second floors). The proposal would appear of
a similar height, as discussed above.

The outlook from the two dwellings at 37 and 37a is primarily to the west over the front
of the site, with some outlook facing partially south to maximise natural light reaching
the dwellings. Number 37a has a building line set slightly further forward than the
proposed block, meaning that the proposed new block would not be prominent from
the front of number 37a. 37a has an obscure glazed side window on the first floor
facing over the site. There is one further side window to the lower ground floor serving
the study/bedroom 4 of number 37a but this lies adjacent to the existing host dwelling,
and the impacts would not be substantially different from existing. The rest of the
outlook from 37a to the front of the site would not be substantially impacted. Within the
proposed block, there would only be two obscure glazed bathroom windows facing
north towards the side elevation of 37a. Therefore overall, there are not considered to
be substantial detrimental impacts on No. 37a from the proposed new block.

31



63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

With regard to number 37 Brudenell Avenue, which is set further back than 37a, this
occupies higher ground at the back of the site. The steep gradient means that the first
and second floors of number 37 look over the top of 37a. This dwelling is further away
from the proposed block with an outlook to the front and rear of the site to the east and
west. Whilst the scheme will be visible to this neighbour, there would be no direct
views to the new block. It would be visible from the front of number 37 though the
closest point of the proposed building is around 20 metres away from the dwelling. The
block would therefore not have an overbearing impact, nor result in a substantial loss
of outlook to No.37.

With regard to the arrangement of buildings to the south of the site, directly to the
south lies 7 Brudenell Road which lies on the corner of Brudenell Avenue and
Brudenell Road and fronts onto Brudenell Road. A visit to the site confirmed that this
neighbouring dwelling at 7 Brudenell Road is boarded up and ready to be demolished
to make way for the consent that was granted under application APP/23/00736/F to
construct a block of apartments and replacement dwelling on the site (and a variation
of condition for this application ref APP/24/00454/F has been lodged for amendments
to the plans to construct an additional floor on top of the previously approved to form
two 4-storey buildings). use, both set on the site with primarily a southern facing
outlook onto Brudenell Road.

The new dwelling proposed on the neighbouring site at 7 Brudenell Road would lie at
the part of the site adjacent to the proposed bock. The dwelling would have a ground
floor study with a north facing window and a bathroom, wc, ensuite and laundry room
to the first floor facing north. These would be the only windows facing north towards 39
Brudenell Avenue, and due to their proposed uses, the majority of these windows
would therefore be obscure glazed. The scheme shows retention of the hedge on the
southern boundary, and with this there would be no direct views down into the north
elevation of the proposed dwelling on the adjacent site. There is a difficulty in relying
on the retention of a hedge in providing a screento maintain privacy as this cannot be
guaranteed long-term. Therefore the impacts have been assessed without reliance on
the hedge. In this respect, any views from the proposed block would be to mainly
secondary or non-habitable rooms in the approved dwelling on No.7 and would not
result in a substantial loss of privacy.

The rest of the outlook for this proposed dwelling at number 7 is over the south and
west of the site, away from the proposed block at number 39. The proposal would be
slightly elevated above this site due to the site levels, however due to the outlook of
the dwelling primarily over the south and west of the site, the proposal would not result
in an overbearing impact or substantial loss of outlook to the proposed new dwelling.

With regard to the proposed block of flats on this plot to the south, this lies to the south
east and is set away from the proposed block at an angle meaning that there would be
no direct views between the two. The louvres proposed to the new block would restrict
views towards the flat block and these would be conditioned to ensure they remain in
place for the lifetime of the development. Considering these factors, the scheme is
considered to have acceptable impacts on the living conditions of the approved
properties at 7 Brudenell Road.

In relation to the existing building on the site, the relationship is still considered
acceptable, due to the lack of outlook from the proposed building towards this
elevation. The proposed building would bring the built form closer to the southern
boundary however number 7 Brudenell Road lies to the south of the site so there
would not be a substantial loss of outlook or an overbearing impactin relation to this

32



neighbour. There would be the perception of additional bulk and massing closer to the
boundary, however the principal aspect of the proposal at number 39 faces to the west.

69. It is therefore considered that the impacts of the proposed block of flats would be
acceptable in relation to the existing dwelling or proposed development at number 7
Brudenell Road to the south.

70. Tothe east of the site is a public footpath and set beyond is the rear are properties
along Haven Road, and the site of the newly proposed scheme of flats at 9 Brudenell
Road. Due to the topography whichrises to the rear of the host site, the distance
between the proposal — in excess of 40m - and the dense tree cover to the rear of the
site, the impacts of the scheme on these neighbours is considered acceptable.

71. Tothe west, to the front of the site, 12 Brudenell Avenue, is a 2- storey dwelling set
down from the site but screened from the street by mature trees. Though this
neighbour has expressed concerns, with a distance of 22 metres between the front of
the proposed block and the neighbouring boundary, and over 37 metres between the
proposed block and the front of this neighbour it is considered that there would not be
a resultant loss of privacy, overbearing impact or loss of outlook to this neighbour and
the impacts are considered acceptable.

72. Terraces & balconies are proposed to the units and the impacts on neighbouring
privacy from these are considered acceptable. To the ground floor, the terrace of flat 1
lies to the rear of the block and is bordered by a 1.8 metre high wall on the northern
elevation to ensure there would not be any loss of privacy to any neighbour to the
north, with the outlook from the terrace over the rear of the site. Flats 2 and 3 on the
ground floor and 4, 5 and 6 on the first floor would all have recessed roof terraces, set
within the side walls of the building, so have direct views out to the front and rear
respectively, with limited sideways views to the north and south.

73. The second floor penthouse would have three roof terraces, one to the rear which
would have 1.8m high obscure glazing either side (north and south) to restrict views.
The two terraces to the front (west) elevation would face out primarily over the front of
the curtilage and are set in line with the front of the dwellings at 37a Brudenell Avenue
and 7 Brudenell Road adjacent. It is therefore considered that these front elevation
second-floor balconies would not require obscure glazing, and the privacy impacts are
overall considered acceptable from the balconies/roof terraces, subjectto condition.

74. The impact on the residential amenities of the surrounding properties has been
carefully considered and the representations referring to these issues are recognised
and acknowledged. It is considered that the amenity impacts from this proposal are
acceptable. It is overall considered that the scheme is acceptable and compliant with
Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan 2018.

Impacts on living conditions of future occupants

75. Paragraph 9.5 of the preamble of PP27 states that; "It will be important to ensure that
the right balance is struck between delivering urban intensification, whilst maintaining
high standards of amenity for existing and future occupants. For housing
development, the Council encourages applicants to comply with the national
prescribed space standards when preparing and submitting planning applications.
Schemes that are significantly below these standards e.g. more than 20% of floor
space will need to demonstrate how the development will achieve an acceptable
standard of living for future occupants.”

33



76.

77.

78.

The seven flats all exceed the nationally described technical housing standards for two
bedroom, three or four person flats and three bedroom, four to six person flats, with
the floorspace for each flat compared to the standards as set out in the Nationally
Prescribed Space Standards as follows:

Proposed Minimum floor
Proposed Flat Proposed No.
floorspace space (NSS)
no. bedrooms T ()

61 (3 person)/ 70

1 - Ground floor 2 126 (4 pereon)
2 - Ground floor 2 128 61 (3 person)/ 70

(4 person)
61 (3 person)/ 70

3 - Ground floor 2 131 (4 person)
i 61 (3 person)/ 70

4 - First floor 2 119 (4 person)
5 - First floor 2 121 61 (3 person)/ 70

(4 person)
i 61 (3 person)/ 70

6 - First floor 2 119 4 porson)
7 - Second floor 3 165 74 (4 person)/ 95

(6 person)

The proposed development would create a high standard of living conditions, with lots
of natural light and large spacious rooms, with a range of en-suites and dressing
rooms for the bedrooms and large living spaces alongside private outdoor terrace
areas for each unit. The urban design officer noted that flats No.2 & 5 are single-
aspect units with windows/doors facing only north-east. Saying this, they are designed
to have cross-ventilation, though may be internally slightly darker, and they would
benefit from some direct sunlight to the east. It is considered that these units would
still provide an acceptable standard of living when considering their size and access to
private external terraces. All units will benefit from large glazing panels and sliding
doors on the western and eastern elevations which will provide natural light and solar
gain. There will be limited glazing on the southern elevation and the only obscured
glazing on the north elevation serving two bathrooms, which will ensure no adverse
impact on the amenity of the occupiers, with most of the outlook over the front and rear
of the large plot.

The proposed flats also benefit from roof terraces to provide outdoor amenity space
where overlooking will be minimised through the proposed planting and screens to the
terraces, and restricting access to large areas of the flat roofs for maintenance only.
There may be a small degree of mutual overlooking between neighbouring terraces
however mutual overlooking is commonplace in residential areas and also in the
locality where buildings are deigned to take advantage of sea views. Therefore, the
sizes and design of the flats are considered to accord with the expectations of PP27
and would overall create acceptable living conditions.

Housing for an ageing population

79.

In order to meet the needs of the ageing population, Policy PP12 (3) requires at least
20% of a mix of the housing types on sites over 1,000sq.m floor space to comply with
Part M4 (2) of the Building Regulations, in order to deliver adaptable and accessible
homes. The proposals have been demonstrated as being potentially capable of

34



complying with this requirement. The proposed drawings show 2 ground floor units (flats
1 and 2) to meet the requirements of Policy PP12, and two disabled parking spaces
have also been provided in accordance with this, as marked on the site plan. A condition
has been placed to ensure that these measures come forward, and subject to this, the
proposal would be compliant with Policy PP12, and acceptable on these grounds.

Impact on highways and parking

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

PP27 (g) requires that developments provide convenient and practical parking and
cycle storage. The site lies within Zone D of the Parking Standards SPD and the
application proposes parking in accordance with this, with fourteen spaces in total,
which equates to two per flat, but also includes within this number, two disabled
spaces set within the undercroft which would be a benefit of the proposal and four
resident/visitor spaces outside of the block (within the front of the site). The majority of
parking for residents would be set within 8 spaces within the undercroft. These parking
spaces would all have electric vehicle charging. Covered secured cycle storage for
residents is confirmed at one per bedroom, with 15 spaces in total which would be
acceptable, secured within a cycle unit accessed through the undercroft. With regard
to this undercroft, highways and the urban design team have recommended a
condition to ensure that the under-croft car park shall be designed and constructed
having regard to the Institution of Structural Engineers Publication ‘Design
Recommendations for Multi-storey and Underground Car Parks’ (2011) or any future
update. There are also two cycle stand spaces for visitors to the front of the site, which
would be in accordance with the requirements. Additional conditions are required to
ensure Parking/ Turning prior to occupation, Visibility Splays, and provision of Electric
Vehicle Charging Points to ensure the proposal would meet the requirements as set
out within the SPD.

Policy PP35 notes that new development is required to provide safe access to the
highway. Highways have confirmed that the scheme would be acceptable subject to
conditions. The Urban Design Officer noted that it is a positive that there would be a
separate access for pedestrians, with the existing access being blocked off and a new
one for vehicles/cycles alongside a separate pedestrian entrance heading straight to
the entrance of the building being constructed.

Highways Officers noted that a further condition is required for a scheme and program
of works required to close the existing access (which is to be made redundant) and for
the installation of a new footway crossing to the access hereby approved, including
raising the existing dropped kerbs and reinstating the footway to the redundant access
and providing a new dropped kerb crossing to the approved access, and the alteration
of the road markings on the highway outside the site.

The amount of traffic generated by six additional units would have acceptable impacts
on the capacity of the wider highway network and no evidence has been demonstrated
that this increase cannot be satisfactorily accommodated within the highway network.
Highways considered that this aspect of the scheme and raise no concerns.

To the rear (east) of the site lies a Public Right of Way. The Rights of Way team were
consulted on the proposal but did not make any comments. However, it is considered
that through redevelopment of the site, which will retain built form to the front (west) of
the site away from the Public Right of Way, there would not be any detrimental impacts
on the PRoW.

It is therefore considered that, subject to the conditions as set out above, the proposal
is wholly compliant with the BCP Parking Standards SPD (2021) and Policy PP35 of

35



the Local Plan 2018 and is acceptable in regard to parking, rights of way and highways
impacts including highway safety.

Impacts on Trees and Landscaping

86.

87.

88.

89.

90.

91.

Policy PP27 notes that proposals are acceptable where they respond to natural
features on the site and do not result in the loss of trees that make a significant
contribution, either individually or cumulatively, to the character and local climate of the
area.

TPO 34/1999 protects trees on the site and the neighbouring site with individual and
group designations. TPOs therefore lie in a group designation to the eastern section of
the site, far to the rear of the proposed development, alongside three individual
protected trees which lie on the northern boundary. There are two further protected
trees on the southern boundary which lie towards the rear of the plot.

The arboricultural team were consulted and noted that the application has been
submitted with a detailed arboricultural impact assessment and method statement
which supports the application and provides information and method to ensure trees
can be retained within development. The Trees Officer confirmed that all protected
trees are to be retained.

The hedge to the front of the site is to be retained as far as possible, however this is in
poor condition and a landscaping plan will be required and secured by condition, to
include new tree planting alongside other soft landscaping along the front boundary to
help mitigate the loss of the hedge. The site plan shows large areas of hedge and a
range of planting to the front, however more detail will be required.

One further condition was considered necessary to ensure that there is no damage to
the trees from the creation of the retaining wall for the basement if measures
prescribed within the method statement are not followed. Therefore, a condition would
be needed to ensure details are provided for the retaining wall to ensure it would not
impact T2 during construction, and locations of soakaways can be secured by
condition along with a pre-commencement meeting.

Therefore, subject to conditions as set out above, the proposal is considered to have
acceptable impacts on the mature trees on site, and a landscaping scheme will ensure
that despite removal of the dead hedge from the site frontage, the front will be
softened with provision of trees to be agreed by the Arboricultural Officer. Therefore,
the proposal is considered to be compliant with Policy PP27 with regard to trees and
landscaping.

Biodiversity

92.

An Ecological Impact Assessment was provided within the application which stated
that there was no evidence of any bats and no potential roost features were found
during the survey. The Biodiversity Officer confirmed that the recommendations as
contained within this report are acceptable and there were no concerns raised. The
Biodiversity Officer recommended a condition to ensure that biodiversity
recommendations as set out within this report are secured. An informative was also
suggested stating that if bats are found during demolition, works should cease, Natural
England contacted and works put back into place. These would ensure that the
development complies with the biodiversity requirements as set out within Policy PP33
of the Poole Local Plan 2018.

36



Sustainability

93.

94.

The proposed scheme is required to meet the latest Building Regulations, therefore
achieving a high level of energy efficiency and sustainability. Policy PP37 requires that
new residential development should incorporate a proportion of future energy use from
renewable energy sources, building design, construction and material. Being a new
build development, it would be readily possible to deliver an energy efficient and
sustainable development in accordance with the requirements of the latest Building
Regulations.

Proposals of 11 or more homes or 1000m2+ in terms of floorspace are required to
provide a minimum of 20% of their predicted future energy needs and therefore it is
appropriate and reasonable to impose a condition to secure details of the measures
that are to be implemented to achieve 20% of the energy needs of the proposed
dwellings through renewable energy sources, in accordance with Policy PP37 of the
Poole Local Plan.

Waste Collection

95.

96.

PP27 (g) requires that development provides convenient and practical waste and
recycling arrangements in accordance with the relevant standards. The proposed bin
store is large enough to accommodate the number and volume of bins required for the
development, as has been confirmed by the Waste Team. The bin store is situated in
an accessible location and distance for the collection vehicle to facilitate collections
along Brudenell Avenue, within 10 metres of the kerb as required by the relevant
standards. The bins for the proposed property will be kept in their allocated bin store
and will be presented to the kerbside for collection day.

The bin store would be an outbuilding placed at the front of the site, this would be
placed along the northern boundary, concealed behind the front boundary and
vegetation. It is also proposed that the bin storage would have a green roof which
would help blend it in with the existing and proposed vegetation and lessenits visual
impact on the streetscene, meaning that the proposed bin store would be compliant
with design policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan.

Land Contamination

97.

The site does not lie within any areas identified as being at risk from contamination
and therefore the Environmental Health team had no objections on contamination
grounds. They did however suggest conditions to ensure there would be no impacts on
neighbours from demolition through a scheme to control dust emanating from the site
during development, a condition to ensure no burning on site, and a final condition to
ensure no machinery or plant shall be operated, no process shall be carried out and no
demolition or construction related deliveries received or dispatched from the site
except between the hours of 0800 — 1800 Monday to Friday and 0800 — 1300
Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays. It is therefore
considered that subject to these conditions, the proposal is considered acceptable on
the grounds of land contamination and Environmental Health impacts.

Shoreline views

98.

The application site is currently screened from view by mature trees and vegetation
and therefore it has no impact on the shoreline views. The proposal would be of a
slightly greater scale and mass than the existing building, and due to the rising

37



topography of the site, it would be more visible from the approach from the Harbour.
However, whilst the overall scale and mass of the proposed building would be greater
than the existing one, the proposal would not appear unduly prominent or dominant in
views from Poole Harbour, due to the location of the site and the three storey height
not being out of keeping or dominant in relation to the surrounding buildings, alongside
the dense tree cover in the locality and the distance of the proposed scheme from the
shoreline. As such, the proposal would comply with the provisions of Policy PP31 of
the Poole Local Plan.

Drainage/Flooding

99.

100.

101.

Policy PP38 concerns Managing Flood Risk and sets out how all major developments
will be required to incorporate SUDS and seeks to ensure post-development surface
water runoff does not exceed pre-development levels. The site is within Flood Zone 1
and therefore at low risk of either fluvial or tidal flooding. The site is also not at a high
risk from surface water flooding when referring to the Environment Agency's relevant
mapping. However, major development of over 1000m2+ in terms of floorspace is
required to be supported by a surface water management scheme in accordance with
the NPPF to ensure that the proposed development or any adjoining property or
infrastructure is not placed at risk or to suffer any worsening as a result of the
development.

A drainage plan was provided which showed details on SuDS and surface water
management, allowing for climate change up to 2070 as required, and was sentto the
flood risk team for consultation. The Officer confirmed no objections overall, that the
proposed new build would connect to the sewer and the Agent provided proof that
Wessex Water have agreed to this and that their systems can take the flow.

It is recognised that there would be a slight increase in hardstanding on the site
however, overall, subject to a condition ensuring that the development is undertaken in
accordance with the drainage plan, the application received support of the drainage
team and is considered to comply with Policy PP38 regarding flood risk.

SAMM/CIL Compliance

Contributions Required Dorset Heathland SAMM Poole Harbour
Recreation SAMM
Flats  |Existing 0
=7 X £348 = 7 X £124
Proposed 7
Net increase 7 flats N/A 7 flats
= £2436 = £868
Houses ([Existing n
Proposed D = - £510 =-£181
Net increase [1 house F1 house

38




Total Contributions = £2436 - £510 £868 plus admin fee

= £1923 plus admin fee = £687 plus admin fee

CIL

Zone A @ £275.57 per sqm

102.

103.

104.

105.

Mitigation of the impact of the proposed development on recreational facilities; Dorset
Heathlands and Poole Harbour Special Protection Areas; and strategic transport
infrastructure is provided for by the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule adopted by the Council in February 2019.

The site is within 5km (but not within 400m) of Heathland SSSI and the proposed net
Increase in dwellings would not be acceptable without appropriate mitigation of their
Impact upon the Heathland. As part of the Dorset Heathland Planning Framework a
contribution is required from all qualifying residential development to fund Strategic
Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) in respect of the internationally
Important Dorset Heathlands. This proposal requires such a contribution, without
which it would not satisfy the appropriate assessment required by the Habitat
Regulations.

In addition, the proposed net increase in dwellings would not be acceptable without
Appropriate mitigation of their recreational impact upon the Poole Harbour SPA and
Ramsar site. A contribution is required from all qualifying residential development in
Poole to fund Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) in respect of the
Internationally important Poole Harbour. This proposal requires such a contribution,
without which it would not satisfy the appropriate assessment required by the Habitat
Regulations.

The applicant has completed a suitable s106 agreement securing the necessary
mitigation towards the scheme’s impacts on the Dorset Heathlands and Poole Harbour
Recreation SAMM. As such, the proposed scheme complies with Policies PP32 and
PP39 of the Poole Local Plan. The application falls into CIL Zone C which has CIL
chargeable rate of £137.78 per square metre.

Summary

The proposal would provide 6 additional residential units of accommodation on site.
The proposed scheme would make an efficient use of the site.

The proposal would not deliver affordable housing provision on site.

The proposal would have acceptable impacts on the prevailing character and layout of
the surrounding development in the area. The scale, massing and design of the
proposed development together with its external finishes, would be appropriate in the
context of the surrounding built form and enable it to integrate in an acceptable manner
within the street scene.

The proposed development would have acceptable impacts on the amenities and
privacy of the occupants of neighbouring and nearby properties, subject to conditions.
The proposal would provide adequate living conditions for the prospective occupiers of
the proposed flats.

The proposed access and parking arrangements are acceptable and would not be
detrimental to highway and pedestrian safety.

The proposed waste collection arrangements are adequate and proportionate to the
scale of the proposed scheme.

The scheme can provide an adequate level of biodiversity enhancement, secured by
condition.

39




e The provision of 10% of the predicted energy consumption of the proposed
dwellings through the use of renewable energy sources can be secured by condition.
e The proposal would preserve the protected shoreline views.
The proposed scheme would deliver suitable and comprehensive SUDS, subject to
condition.
e The proposal would mitigate the impact on heathland and harbour recreation through
SAMM contributions which have been paid.
e The proposal would be CIL liable.

Planning Balance / Conclusion

106. The Council encourages sustainable development. This seeks to strike a balance
between the economic benefit of the development, the environmental impacts and the
social benefits derived by the creation of much needed housing. The proposal would
provide for 7 dwellings, a net increase of 6 homes on the site. It is considered that the
principle of seven flats on this plot is acceptable and the proposal has been shown to
be compliant with Local Plan policies.

107. Given the shortfall of the number of homes delivered in the Local Plan area, and, as
the scheme can satisfactorily mitigate its impacts on protected sites, the balance is
tilted in favour of sustainable development and granting planning permission except
where the benefits are significantly and demonstrably outweighed by the adverse
impacts or where specific policies in the NPPF provide a clear reason for refusal. The
tilted balance is relevant because the report does not identify adverse impacts, when
assessed against the Framework taken as a whole.

108. The scheme would contribute to the Council’s demand for new housing, and it would
achieve social benefits by delivering an additional 6 new residential units in an
established residential area, in a manner that would preserve the area’s residential
character without harming the residential amenities of the neighbours, highway safety,
or protected habitat nearby. There are economic benefits from the build stage and
additional residences within the urban area. The environmental impacts are neutral.

109. Having recognised the collective benefits of the proposed scheme and the tilted
balance approach, it is concluded that the scheme would achieve the economic, social
and environmental objectives of sustainable development, in line with the adopted
local policies and the provisions of the NPPF.

110. The scheme complies with Development Plan as a whole and is therefore
recommended for approval.

Recommendation

111. It is recommended that this application be approved subject to the following conditions.

Conditions

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason - This condition is required to be imposed by the provisions of Section 91 of

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and amended by Section 51(1) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

40



2. The development hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the
approved plans:

Amended location plan, drawing number 01A. Received 8" January 2024.

Block plan, drawing number 02A. Received 8" January 2024.

Proposed site plan - showing second floor plan, drawing number 04D. Received 15"
April 2024.

Proposed site plan - showing basement floor plan, drawing number 05D. Received
15" April 2024.

Proposed ground floor plan, drawing number 06A. Received 9" April 2024.
Proposed first floor plan, drawing number 07A. Received 9" April 2024.

Proposed second floor plan, drawing number 08A. Received 9" April 2024.
Proposed basement floor plan, drawing number 09A. Received 9" April 2024.
Indicative streetscene, drawing number 10A. Received 16" January 2024.
Proposed front elevation — west, drawing number 11. Received 15t November 2023.
Proposed side elevation — north, drawing number 12. Received 15t November 2023.
Proposed rear elevation — east, drawing number 13. Received 1t November 2023.
Proposed side elevation — south, drawing number 14. Received 1%t November 2023.
Materials schedule. Received 11t" June 2024.

Drainage plan, drawing number 1000 Rev P2. Received 9" April 2024.

Reason — For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. The materials to be used for the external faces on the development shall be as
specified on the approved materials schedule, received 11" June 2024.

Reason — In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and in
accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan 2018.

4. Both in the first instance and upon all subsequent occasions, all side elevation
windows serving bathrooms shall be glazed with obscured glazing which conforms
with or exceeds Pilkington Texture Glass Privacy Level 3 (or an equivalent level in
any replacement standard) and every such window is either a fixed light or hung in
such a way as to ensure that the full benefit of the obscured glazing in inhibiting
overlooking is maintained. Every obscured glazed window shall thereafter at all times
be retained in accordance with this condition.

Reason — To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining properties and in
accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

5. Both in the first instance and upon all subsequent occasions, the screens to the roof
terrace serving the rear (eastern) elevation of flat 7 on the second floor must be
obscure glazed, conforming with or exceeding Pilkington Texture Glass Privacy Level
3 (or an equivalent level in any replacement standard) on the north and south
elevations. These screens shall be installed prior to first occupation of this unit and
thereafter retained in accordance with this condition.

Reason — To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining properties and in
accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

6. The louvres proposed on the development and as shown on the approved elevations

‘Proposed side elevation — south, drawing number 14’; including to all windows on
the southern side elevation of flats 2 and 3, and to the southern side elevation of flat

41



10.

6 (in bed 4), shall all be installed prior to the first occupation of the building hereby
permitted and shall thereafter be retained at all times.

Reason — To protect the amenity of neighbouring dwellings and the prospective
occupiers of the approved flats and in accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole
Local Plan 2018.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) and the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) or any subsequent re-enactments thereof, the flat
roof areas of the upper floors that are not marked to be used as terrace areas, as
shown on Proposed ground floor plan, drawing number 06A, Proposed first floor
plan, drawing number 07A and Proposed second floor plan, drawing number 08A,
shall not be used as a balcony, roof garden or similar amenity area.

Reason — To protect the amenity and privacy of adjoining residential properties and in
accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied unless all the
biodiversity measures as given in sections 6.0. Biodiversity Enhancements for
Biodiversity Net Gain and 7.0. Mitigation of ‘Ecological Impact Assessment 39
Brudenell Ave, Poole, Dorset BH13 7NW’ by KP Ecology, have first been fully
provided as approved. Thereafter, those measures shall at all times be retained.

Reason — In the interests of mitigating impacts on biodiversity on site and in
accordance with Policy PP33 of the Poole Local Plan.

All works relating to the ground clearance, tree works, demolition and development
with implications for trees shall be carried out as specified in the approved
arboricultural method statement, and shall be supervised by an arboricultural
consultant holding a nationally recognised arboricultural qualification.

Reason — To prevent trees on site from being damaged during construction works
and in accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced, including any site
clearance, the digging of any trenches and the bringing on to site of any equipment,
materials or machinery for use in connection with the implementation of the
development (save as is necessary for the purpose of this condition) unless:

(a) asite meeting involving a representative of the local planning authority and an
Arboricultural Consultant has first taken place to identify any supplemental
requirements for protecting trees during the carrying out of the development on and
adjacent to the application site; and

(b) there has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority
details of supplemental requirements confirmed at the meeting ("the Supplemental
Requirements"); and

(c) all tree protection has been provided in accordance with both the Approved Tree
Details and the Supplemental Requirements ("the Full Approved Tree Protection
Measures").

Once provided, the Full Approved Tree Protection Measures shall thereafter at all
times be retained until the development has been completed and all equipment,

42



11.

12.

13.

machinery and surplus materials relating to the construction of the development have
been removed from the site unless an alternative time is otherwise agreed in writing
by the local planning authority.

Until such time as the Full Approved Tree Protection Measures have all been
removed, nothing shall be stored or placed in any area secured by any part of the
Full Approved Tree Protection Measures nor shall the ground levels within those
areas be altered or any excavation made without the written consent of the local
planning authority.”

Reason — In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that the trees to
be retained on-site will not be damaged during the construction works and to ensure
that as far as possible the work is carried out in accordance with current best practice
and in accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

Notwithstanding any details contained in any document (including any plan)
submitted in connection with the development hereby permitted, no part of the
development hereby permitted shall be commenced unless full details of the design
and construction of the under-croft car park, which in particular have had regard to
regard to the Institution of Structural Engineers Publication ‘Design
Recommendations for Multi-storey and Underground Car Parks’ (2011) (or any
subsequent relevant replacement), have first been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall only be constructed in
accordance with the approved under-croft car park details.

Reason — In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy PP35 of
the Poole Local Plan (2018), the Parking Standards SPD (Jan 2021), and the
Institution of Structural Engineers Publication ‘Design Recommendations for Multi-
storey and Underground Car Parks’ (2011).

A person with relevant experience, must design the details relating to the final and
temporary services and rainwater soakaways/holding tanks, or waste pumps (section
4), and soil retention system (retaining wall), section 3. These mustinclude accurate
locations of installation, including cross-sections, detailing levels of existing /
proposed finished levels and construction method statements for each specific
operation, which will be required prior to or at the pre commencement meeting in
Condition 10.

Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that the trees to
be retained on-site will not be damaged during the construction works and to ensure
that as far as possible the work is carried out in accordance with current best practice
and in accordance with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

No above ground works shall commence until a detailed Landscape Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall
include the position, species and size of all new trees, shrubs and ground covers
proposed for the development and specification for maintenance and aftercare.

Upon approval:

a) The approved scheme shall be fully implemented with new planting carried out in
the planting season October to March inclusive following occupation of the building(s)
or the completion of the development whichever is sooner, or in accordance with a
timetable to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

43



14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

b) All planting shall be carried out in accordance of British Standards including regard
for plant storage and ground conditions at the time of planting.

¢) The scheme shall be properly maintained for a period of 5 years and any plant
(including those retained as part of the scheme) which die, are damaged or diseased
within this period shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar
size and the same species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent
to any variation.

d) The whole scheme shall be subsequently retained.

Reason — To ensure that reasonable measures are taken to establish trees and
vegetation in the interests of local amenity and the enhancement of the development
itself in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, details of the retaining
wall proposed to the north of the site shall be provided to ensure it will not impact on
tree T2 during construction.

Reason — To protect the protected trees and in accordance with Policy PP27 of the
Poole Local Plan.

As identified on the approved proposed ground floor plan, drawing number 06A, 20%
of the 7 dwellings hereby permitted (2no.) are to be built in accordance with the
requirements of Approved Document Part M4(2) Category 2 of the Building
Regulations (2015) (as amended). The units shall be thereafter retained in this
manner.

Reason - In the interests of meeting the needs of the ageing population and in
accordance with PP12 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

The development hereby approved shall not be commenced until a scheme
specifying the provisions to be made to control dust emanating from the site during
the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The agreed scheme shall be implemented in full before the
proposed development is started, including demolition and site clearance.

Reason - To protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and in accordance
with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

During demolition and construction of the development hereby approved, no site
machinery or plant shall be operated, no process shall be carried out and no
demolition or construction related deliveries received or dispatched from the site
except between the hours of 0800 — 1800 Monday to Friday and 0800 — 1300
Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays.

Reason - To protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and in accordance
with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

During demolition and construction of the proposed development hereby approved,
there shall be no burning undertaken at any time on the site.

Reason - To protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and in accordance
with Policy PP27 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

44



19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the access,

turning space, garaging/vehicle parking and cycle parking shown on the approved

proposed site plan, drawing number 05D, plans have been constructed, and these
shall thereafter be retained and kept available for those purposes at all times.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies PP27,
PP34, PP35 and PP36 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

Before the development hereby permitted is brought into use and notwithstanding the
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and reenacting that order with or
without modification), the land designated as visibility splays as indicated on the
proposed site plan, received 15" April 2024, shall be cleared of all obstructions over
0.6 metres above the level of the adjoining highway, including the reduction in level
of the land if necessary, and nothing over that height shall be permitted to remain, be
placed, built, planted or grown on the land so designated at any time.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with the approved
plans and Policies PP34, PP35 and PP36 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

Within 3 months of the commencement of the development details of the provision of
Electric Vehicle Charging Points and associated infrastructure shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for discharge in writing. Those details shall be in
accordance with the BCP Council Parking Standards SPD (adopted 5th January
2021). The approved details shall be implemented and brought into operation prior to
the occupation of any residential unit hereby approved. Thereafter, the Electric
Vehicle Charging Points shall be permanently retained available for use at all times.

Reason - In the interests of promoting sustainable development including sustainable
forms of transport in accordance with Policy PP35 of the Poole Local Plan -
November 2018

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the developer shall
submit a scheme and program of works to be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority, to close the existing access (which is to be made redundant) and
for the installation of a new footway crossing to the access hereby approved,
including raising the existing dropped kerbs and reinstating the footway to the
redundant access and providing a new dropped kerb crossing to the approved
access, and the alteration of the road markings on the highway outside the site,
including the parking bay markings, yellow lines, and any relevant signage, and
amendments to the existing TRO, corresponding with the closure of the existing
accesses and formation of the new access to the site. The scheme shall comply with
the standards adopted by the Local Highway Authority. The agreed scheme shall
thereafter be fully implemented, at the developer’s expense, in accordance with the
agreed program of works prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved.
At no time thereafter shall the expunged access be used for such a purpose.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy PP35 of
the Poole Local Plan (2018).

Prior to first occupation of the building(s) hereby permitted, details of measures to
provide 10% of the predicted future energy use of each dwelling from on-site
renewable sources, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local

45



24.

planning authority. These measures must then be implemented before any
residential occupation is brought into use, and shall be retained thereafter.
Documents required by the Local Authority include:
e The 'as built" SAP assessment documents. These should be the same
documents issued to Building Control to address the Building Regulations
Part L, The corresponding EPC (Energy Performance Certificate), and;
e A statement, summary or covering letter outlining how the data given in the
above documents demonstrates that a minimum of 10% of energy use is
provided by the renewable technology.

Reason - In the interests of delivering a sustainable scheme, reducing carbon
emissions and reducing reliance on centralised energy supply, and in accordance
with Policy PP37 of the Poole Local Plan (November 2018).

All ground hard surfaces shall either be made of porous materials, or provision shall
be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface to a permeable or porous area
or surface within the site. The hard surface shall thereafter be retained as such.

Reason - In the interests of delivering development which does not result in
unacceptable levels of run-off and in accordance with Policy PP38 of the Poole Local
Plan (November 2018).

Informative Notes

1.

In accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 38 of the NPPF the Local Planning
Authority (LPA) takes a positive and creative approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. The LPA work with applicants/agents in a positive and
proactive manner by;

- offering a pre-application advice service, and

- advising applicants of any issues that may arise during the consideration of their
application and, where possible, suggesting solutions.

Also:

- in this case the applicant was advised of issues after the initial site visit

- in this case the applicant was afforded an opportunity to submit amendments to the
scheme which addressed issues that had been identified

(Community Infrastructure Levy - Approval)

Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations
The proposed development referred to in this Planning Permissionis a chargeable
development liable to pay Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) under Part 11 of the
Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations (amended). In accordance with CIL
Regulation 65, the Local Planning Authority (LPA) will issue a Liability Notice in
respect of the chargeable development referred to in this planning permission as
soon as practicable after the day on which this Planning Permission first permits
development. The Liability Notice will confirm the chargeable amount for the
chargeable development referred to in this Planning Permission and will be
calculated by the LPA in accordance with CIL Regulation 40 (amended) and in
respect of the relevant CIL rates set out in the adopted charging Schedule. Please
note that the chargeable amount payable in respect of the chargeable development
referred to in this planning permissionis a local land charge.

46



Please be aware that failure to submit a Commencement Notice and pay CIL in
accordance with the CIL Regulations and Council’s payment procedure upon
commencement of the chargeable development referred to in this Planning
Permission will result in the Council imposing surcharges and taking enforcement
action. Further details on the Council’s CIL process including assuming liability,
withdrawing and transferring liability to pay CIL, claiming relief, the payment
procedure, consequences of not paying CIL in accordance with the payment
procedure and appeals can be found on the website:
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Planning-and-building-control/Planning-
policy/Community-Infrastructure-Levy/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx.

3. The applicant is informed that the “first” part of the 4.5 metres of the access crossing
in any case falls within the highway and is subject to the direct jurisdiction of the local
highway authority. The remaining proportion of the 4.5 metres is also required to be
surfaced to ensure free and easy access to and from the highway and to ensure
stones, mud, gravel and the like do not result in a hazard on or near the highway.

4. As arequired adjunct of this access closure, the applicant is advised that it will be
necessary for the kerb to be raised and the footway (and verge) restored. Normally
this work will be undertaken at the expense of the developer by the Highway
Authority although, on occasions, there might be instances where the developer,
under supervision, can undertake this work.

5. The applicant is informed that the Local Highway Authority will require the footway
and kerb to be lowered and reconstructed in the position(s) corresponding to the
vehicular means of access to the site. This requirement is imposed in order to
service the means of access; in order to prevent danger and inconvenience to other
road users and to pedestrians; and in order to prevent possible damage to highway
surfaces. The work shall conform to a specification to be provided by the Highway
Authority (BCP Council), or it may be required to be undertaken by the Authority
itself. In either event, the work will be required to be undertaken at the applicant's
expense. With regards to such works the applicant should contact BCP Council and
complete an online application form at: htips://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Roads-and-
transport/Dropped-kerbs/Apply-for-a-dropped-kerb.aspx

6. [f bats are found during demolition all work should cease and if possible, part of the
structure that was removed and exposed bats must be put back into place. A bat
ecologist should be employed as soon as possible to address the situation and
Natural England contacted.

Background Documents:
Case File ref APP/23/01263/F

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council's website.

In addition to uploaded information there may be other publicly accessible information that
may be accessed on request.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

47


https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Roads-and-transport/Dropped-kerbs/Apply-for-a-dropped-kerb.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Roads-and-transport/Dropped-kerbs/Apply-for-a-dropped-kerb.aspx

This page is intentionally left blank

48



Vv

oL b
at

OUTLINE OF APPROVED
APP/21/01505/F

Cliftons

L)
"‘ﬂe
<> \/%

El Sub Sta

APP/22/01052/F
EXTANT
PLANNING
CONSENT

6v

HARBOUR
HEIGHTS

LOCATION PLAN D 10 PO 40m)
Scale 1:1250 @ A3

S s LOCATION PLAN | SCALE 1:1250 @ A3 | 234001A | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS | | . | . .
studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. @



M4(2) COMPLIANT ENTRANCE DOOR

- M4(2) COMPLIANT

b 926mm LEAF (MINIMUM 850mm OPENING) WITH
4. DOOR 926mm LEAF 300mm LEADING EDGE - ACCESSED BY 1:20
(MINIMUM 850mm GRADIENT FROM SITE ACCESS
OPENING)
M4(2) COMPLIANT PARKING SPACES
SITE SCHEDULE
Parking Spaces : 14 ( 2 per flat) - all to have EV charging
Bicycle Spaces : 15 (1 per bedroom )
Bins : 2 x 12801 DMR / 1 x 12801 GW
Lo} I |2 13 |4 |5 10m|
MARLOVY ARCHITECTS T o PROPOSED BASEMENT FLOOR | 1:100@A3 | 234009A | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. @



1283 sqft .

a1
=
FOR
MAINTENANGE
ACGESS ONLY
ROOM KEY:
01: UTILITY
02: COATS

03. FAMILY BATHROOM / WC
04: BED 2

05. MASTER BED

06: MASTER DRESSING

07 ENSUITE

08. KITCHEN

09: DINING

10: LIVING

11: TERRACE lo [ 2 3 |4 5 10m)

PROPOSED FIRST FLOORPLAN | 1:100 @A3 | 234007A | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. @



EXISTING HEDGE RETAINED WHERE POSSIBLE

S,

Lod¥

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION - WEST S || e eSS

(8] |1 |2 3 |4 5 10m|

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 1:100 @ A3 2340 11 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS | | . | . .
studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. @



g M4(2) COMPLIANT
o s ENTRANCE DOOR
926mm LEAF (MINIMUM
850mm OPENING) WITH
ManTEuice KPS 300mm LEADING EDGE
ROOM KEY:
01: UTILITY
02: COATS
03: FAMILY BATHROOM / WC -
04. BED 2 | | M4(2) COMPLIANT FLAT
05: MASTER BED .3
06: MASTER DRESSING *NOTE : FLATS 1 & 2 TO BE M4(2) COMPLIANT. FLATS HAVE BEEN
07: ENSUITE AMENDED TO REACH M4(2) COMPLIANCE ON :
08. KITCHEN ACCESS TO, PARKING, ENTRANGE, CIRCULATION, BEDROOMS,
09: DINING SANITARY FACILITIES & BATHROOMS
10: LIVING TO BE RECHECKED AT DETAILED DESIGN

11: TERRACE lo [ |2 I3 |4 & 10m|

PROPOSED GROUND FLOORPLAN | 1:100@A3 | 234006A | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. @



26.831 No. 37 BRUDENELL AVENUE
AS SHOWN ON
TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY
EXISTING HEDGE RETAINED WHERE POSSIBLE

Y = l
i No. 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE
24.039
No. 37A BRUDENELL AVENUE AS APPROVED
21.128
AS SHOWN ON
TOPOGRAPHIGAL SURVEY No. 7 BRUDENELL ROAD
19.920
AS APPROVED
—
| —

INDICATIVE STREETSCENE - SHOWING APPROVED PRIOR APPROVAL APP/23/01117/PA

ul
SN
26.831 No. 37 BRUDENELL AVENUE
AS SHOWN ON
TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY
T
\ | . Y EXISTING HEDGE RETAINED WHERE POSSIBLE
24.039
No. 37ABRUDENELL AVENUE AS APPROVED
| —— i, p— -
4 ~ ~ I | 21975
r'd PROPOSED FLAT
21.128 ROOF LEVEL
AS SHOWN ON -y
TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY Asigi,i‘%%m No. 7 BRUDENELL ROAD
Y =
— 1

@i

Lt 1

% (" :
rn 0 1y b wy A
Ly ] ‘h .
£ sk wr v I

SHOWING OUTLINE OF APPROVED PRIOR APPROVAL APP/23/01117/PA OUTLINE OF APPROVED APPLICATION
APP/23/00736/F

INDICATIVE STREETSCENE - PROPOSED
b |1 2 8 |4 |5 10m|

o oo INDICATIVE STREETSCENE | 1:200@A3 | 234010B | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE

studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

MARLOW ARCHITECTS

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE | UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARGHITECTS LTD. ©




GS

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION - EAST

(8] |1 |2 3 |4 5 10m|

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 1:100 @ A3 2340 13 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS | | . | . .
studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. @



GREEN ROOF
FOR MAINTENANCE ACCESS ONLY

1.8m VISBILTY SPLAY WITH RAKE

I 1 N

12

13

9%

1.8m VISBILITY SPLAY WITH RAKE

ROOM KEY:

01: UTILITY

02: COATS

03: FAMILY BATHROOM
04: WC

05: BED 2

06: BED 3

07: MASTER BED

08: MASTER DRESSING
09: ENSUITE

10: KITCHEN

11: DINING

12 LVING

13. TERRACE 0

I 12 3 |4 |5 10m|

PROPOSED SECOND FLOORPLAN | 1:100@A3 | 234008A | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. @



LOUVRES PREVENT
OBLIQUE ANGLE
VIEWS TOWARDS
STUDY OF NO.7

K JJ M \ PLAN FOR REFERENCE ONLY, SCALE INDICATIVE

WITH THE RETENTION OF THE EXISTING HEDGE AND THE FLOOR
PLAN FOR REFERENCE ONLY, SCALE INDICATIVE " LEVELS OF THE PROPOSED FLATS AND THE APPROVED HOUSE

NEXT DOOR, THERE WILL BE NO OVERLOOKING BETWEEN THE
BEDROOM OF FLAT 6 AND THE STUDY OF THE APPROVED
HOUSE. THE PROPOSED LOUVRES ON FLAT 6 ALSO ANGLE THE
VIEWS AWAY FROM THE STUDY AT NUMBER 7, AS SHOWN IN THE
FLOOR PLAN ABOVE

LS

. P—
7

BATHROOM

BATHROOM

APARTMENT
5

BATHRCOM BEDROOM

BASEMENT
CAR PARKING

INDICATIVE SECTION
OF APPROVED APPLICATION
APP/23/00736/F
INDICATIVE SITE SECTION - SHOWING RELATIONSHIP TO NO. 7
[0 [1 |2 13 |4 |5 10m|

INDICATIVE SITE SECTIONS - SHOWING RELATIONSHIP TONO.7 | 1:100@ A3 | 234018 | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. @



i 3 R G )
b o 3 TR T B
- F o !_
Ly N 2 e ¥
s 2 8/
‘“I | “”H A
1 I | L i )
] Ihil LA A i il i
-. it (AR, g 1 L
1 4 WP b
f < . I[P I b 7
|

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION - NORTH

T

o [ |2 I3 |4 |5 10m|

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 1:100 @ A3 234012 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS | | . | . .
studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. ©



:

L)
H||\||\||I\||;._ N
it il

-
=
=

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION - SOUTH

(8] |1 |2 3 |4 5 10m|

PROPOSED ELEVATION 1:1 A 2 14 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS OPOS ONS | 1:100@A3 | 234014 | 39 BRU UE, POO

studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE |  UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHIBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD. ©



SITE SCHEDULE

Parking Spaces : 14 ( 2 per flat ) - all to have EV charging [l
Bicycle Spaces : 15 ( 1 per bedroom )
Bins : 2 x 1280 DMR / 1 x 12801 GW

9
APP/22/01052/F
EXTANT
PLANNING
CONSENT

EXTANT PLANNING
CONSENT
APP/23/00736/F

EXTANT PLANNING
CONSENT
APP/23/00736/F

SITE PLAN KEY

1. NEW VEHICULAR ACCESS WITH 2x2m VISIBILITY SPLAYS

2. NEW PEDESTRIAN ACCESS

3. NEW 900mm WALL WITH NEW HIGH QUALITY HEDGE BEHIND
4. NEW TREES

5. BIN STORE ON EXISTING HARDSTANDING

6. BIKE STORE

7. REAR LEVELS IN RPA AS EXISTING

¢ i e PROPOSED SITE PLAN - SHOWING BASEMENT FLOOR PLAN | SCALE
MARLOW ARCHITECTS s |

REAL GRASS
BENEATH PAVERS

Q)

W
[ 1 |2 |3 |4 |5

1:260 @ A2 | 234005D | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE

studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk | www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE | UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD@



9
APP/22/01052/F
EXTANT EXTANT PLANNING
PLANNING CONSENT
CONSENT APP/23/00736/F
EXTANT PLANNING
CONSENT
APP/23/00736/F

REAL GRASS
BENEATH PAVERS

Q)

o [1

| 234004D | 39 BRUDENELL AVENUE, POOLE
| www.marlowarchitects.co.uk

SCALE 1:250 @ A2
studio@marlowarchitects.co.uk
DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWNG | CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE | UNAUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS PROHBITED | DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT OF MARLOW ARCHITECTS LTD@

l2 13 14 |5

PROPOSED SITE PLAN - SHOWING SECOND FLOOR PLAN |

A .01.2024 I PPLCATIONS
ELD D
REV_B_12.03.2024 Al 1CIAL GRASS ING L. MM
REV_C_12.04.2024 S PARKING I D
M f! I OW f} ( )I | I I ( ) | E ; REV_D_15.04 2024 NOTE ADDED TO SHOW GRASS FOLLOWING LA, ENTS



This page is intentionally left blank

62



Planning Committee

Agenda Iltem 6b
BCP

Council

Application Address

West Hants Lawn Tennis Club, Roslin Road South,
Bournemouth, BH3 7EF

Proposal

Replacement of a single tennis court with 2 new padel tennis
courts with associated screens, fencing and floodlights.

Application Number

7-2024-5036-BF

Applicant The West Hants Club
Agent Pure Town Planning
Ward and Ward Talbot & Branksome Woods
Member(s)
Clir Broadhead
Clir Gilett
Clir Rampton
Report Status Public
Meeting Date 18/07/2024

Summary of
Recommendation

Grantin accordance with the details set out below for
the reasons as set out in the report

Reason for Referral to
Planning Committee

Call-in request from CllIr Rampton:

e The noise from 2 additional Padel courts would have a
further and unacceptable adverse affect on the lives of
residents who are already having to keep double
glazed.

e Noise, impact on residential properties, Loss of
amenity, contrary to CS38 and CS41 of the
Bournemouth Local Plan.

¢ Noise from the thwacking of padel bats as well as
shouting of players. floodlights wuntii 10pm,
unacceptable intrusion into the lives of residents and
their children.

More than 20 letters of objection have been received.

Case Officer

Piotr Kulik

Is the proposal EIA
Development?

No

Description of Proposal

63




This application seeks full planning approval for the proposed replacement of an existing single
tennis court with two padel tennis courts. The proposed works include associated screens, fencing
and floodlights.

The padel courts would be located centrally within the Club grounds. The padel court enclosures
would be 20 metres long by 10 metres wide and they would follow the orientation of the existing
tennis courts. The wire mesh fencing used to form the respective padel courts would be 4 metres
high at each end and 3 metres high along the side of the respective courts. The fencing would
have a very similar appearance to the existing dark green mesh fencing surrounding the existing
clay tennis court.

Description of Site and Surroundings

The application site is located within the West Hants Lawn Tennis Club, which focuses on racket
sports. The site is surrounded by hedge boundaries to the north and south. Vehicle and pedestrian
access is provided from Roslin Road South with parking on the northern and northeastern part of
the site (adjacent to the application site). The immediate setting is predominantly early 20" century
suburban area consisting of generous detached houses set in spacious plots.

The Club is located within the designated Meyrick Park and Talbot Woods Conservation Area.
Consentwas approved in 2015 for the erection of two buildings to form a multi-use gym, classroom
and groundsman's store, two padel ball courts with fence enclosures and a second air dome cover
to two existing tennis courts. A subsequent application for a minor material amendment provided
an additional padel ball court on the site of an existing tennis court adjacent to Elgin Road. For
clarification, the operation of the sports club pre-dates the designation of the area as a
conservation area, and also the majority of the surrounding residential properties.

Relevant Planning History:

10.

30/05/2022: Removal of existing padel court to be replaced with tennis court, removal of western
spectator stand, installation of three new padel courts with associated screens, acoustic fencing
and pole mounted floodlights. Refused (7-2022-5036-BE)

23/02/2021: Alterations and extension at 1stfloor level to extend Gym, relocate an existing Padel
Court and formation of a new Padel Court with associated fencing and flood lighting, erection of
acoustic fencing along Elgin Road, relocate approved store and toilet and formation of additional
parking spaces. Withdrawn (7-2019-5036-BD)

26/09/2019: Minor material amendment to vary condition no. 2 of application no. 7-2017-5036-AZ
to vary the plans to replace groundsman cabin with modular buildings and erect new WC/store.
Original proposal: Erection of two buildings to form multi-use gym, classroom and groundsman'’s
store, two tennis courts with fence enclosures and air dome cover to two existing tennis courts
(September to March inclusive). Granted (7-2019-5036-BB)

13/02/2019: Minor material amendment to vary condition no. 2 of application no. 7-2017-5036-AZ
to vary the plans to provide a store and WC, storage containers, and additional tennis courts in
place of gym, classroom and store. Withdrawn (7-2018-5036-BA)

22/12/2017: Erection of two buildings to form multi-use gym, classroom and groundsman's store,
two tennis courts with fence enclosures and air dome cover to two existing tennis courts
(September to March inclusive) - Minor material amendment to vary condition no.1 of application
No. 7-2015-5036-AX to amend the plans to include a further sports court. Granted (7-2017-5036-

AZ)

05/05/2016: Minor material amendment to vary condition no.1 of application No. 7-2015-5036-AX
to amend the plans. Granted (7-2016-5036-AY)

64



11.

14/12/2015: Erection of two buildings to form multi-use gym, classroom and groundsman'’s store,
two tennis courts with fence enclosures and air dome cover to two existing tennis courts
(September to March inclusive). Granted (7-2015-5036-AX)

Constraints

12.

This site is located within the Meyrick Park and Talbot Woods Conservation Area.

Public Sector Equalities Duty

13.

In accordance with section 149 Equality Act 2010, in considering this proposal due regard has
been had to the need to —

eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited
by or under this Act;

advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

Other relevant duties

14.

15.

16.

17.

In accordance with regulation 9(3) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
(as amended) (“the Habitat Regulations), for the purposes of this application, appropriate regard
has been had to the relevant Directives (as defined in the Habitats Regulations) in so far as they
may be affected by the determination.

For the purposes of section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, in
assessing this application, consideration has been given as to any appropriate action to further
the “general biodiversity objective”.

For the purposes of this application, in accordance with section 17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998,
due regard has been had to, including the need to do all that can reasonably be done to prevent,
(a) crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the
local environment); (b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its area; and (c) re-
offending in its area.

For the purposes of this report regard has been had to the Human Rights Act 1998, the Human
Rights Convention and relevant related issues of proportionality.

Consultations

18.

19.

Tree Officer — Comments dated 27/06/2024:

‘I confirm that | raise no objections to a conditional approval that requires an arboricultural method
statement and tree protection plan for the protection of three trees that could be affected as |
consider this to be feasible and a tree planting condition for planting of two new trees of species,
size and location to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority’.

Ecologist — No objection subject to conditions

Comments dated 27/06/2024:

The supplied bat report is from 2020 sois no longer valid.

65



20.

21.

‘For application 7-2022-5036-BE DWT's response dated 28/2/ 2022 said “DWT recommend that
a sensitive lighting scheme is designed in accordance with Guidance Note 08/18: Bats and
artificial lighting in the UK (Bat Conservation Trust and Institute of Lighting Professionals 2018).
Lighting should utilise a warm colour temperature to minimise impacts on nocturnal wildlife
including bats and invertebrates and should be directed only where required, avoiding illuminating
tree lines and vegetation.” This means lighting to have a colour temperature of less than 2700 K.

In the current application the lighting has colour temperature of 4000K so not compliant with Bats
and artificial lighting in the UK

Also, for earlier application there was representation Species Ecological Consultancy highlighting
issue of bats in area.

No objection with condition that lighting to have colour temperature of 2700 K or less’.

Wessex Water — No objection

‘Foul Water Disposal

Subject to application Wessex Water would accept the foul flows only from the proposed site into
the 225mm public foul sewer.

Surface Water Drainage

Surface water must be disposed of via the SuDS Hierarchy which is subject to Building
Regulations. Land drainage run-off shall not be permitted to discharge to the public sewerage
system. Wessex Water will not accept surface water flows into the foul sewer, either directly or
indirectly.

We note that your application states that surface water is to be drained via a sustainable drainage
system and therefore no connection to our network is required..

Environmental Health Officer — No objection subjectto conditions:

Comments dated 03/05/2024:

‘This has been a contentious application which required a rigorous appraisal of all the information
submitted by both the applicant and the objectors. A number of acoustic reports where assessed
and suggested improvements to the courts were communicated to the applicant and the required
amendments to the scheme was agreed.

This has resulted in a scheme which | believe offers the local residents an acceptable level of
protection from the potential noise which may be associated with the use of the proposed 2 new
Padel Tennis Courts.

| would however request that should you be minded to grant planning approval for this
development that the following condition be attached in respect to noise.

Noise

The use of the 2 padel tennis courts shall not commence until the acoustic fences have been
completed in accordance with the approved plans, and it has been demonstrated that the
maximum noise levels at the closest noise sensitive receptors as specified in the VENTA acoustic
report Reference VA3764.240419.L1 have not been exceeded.

66



22.

23.

A detailed scheme of noise mitigation measures (management controls) shall also be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the use
of the two padel tennis courts.

Reason: The implementation of the development without the proposed acoustic fencing and
associated management controls may result in an unacceptable scheme which would be
detrimental to the amenities of adjoining properties and the character of the area’

Comments dated 27/06/2024:

‘I have now had opportunity to consider the Sports Facility Planning and Design Limited - Outdoor
Lighting design report ( P.A. 05 R1) for the above application.

| am satisfied with the proposed lighting strategy and note that the llluminance (Lux) levels at the
closest sensitive receptor is unlikely to create a light nuisance. It is also noted that the applicant
has considered the potential for sky glow, light spill, and glare in the selection of appropriate
lighting.

| would therefore request that should you be minded to grant planning approval for this
development that a condition be attached specifying that the lighting shall be installed in
accordancewith the lighting strategy as outlined in appendix 2 of The Sports Facility Planning and
Design Limited report.

Conservation Officer — no objection.

Heritage assets affected: Meyrick Park & Talbot Woods Conservation Area

e The area contains a number of substantial detached houses principally dating from the
mid-Victorian period up to the 1930s, and the character of the area is attributed to the
quantity of remaining original buildings and the spacious verdant setting of the mature
trees and shrubs.

e P52 of the appraisal notes: ‘The overwhelming activity in the conservation area is
residential and there are only a few sites that are utilised for an alternative use. These
specific sites are rendered more prominent in respect of this.....West Hants Tennis Club
occupies a site of significant size and the clubhouse building together with the connecting
multi-purpose indoor sports building has one of the largest building footprint within the
conservation area. However, the large proportion of this site is laid to tennis courts which
creates an open feel to the site amongst the housing, especially when viewed from Elgin
road where the tree cover is fairly sparse or when viewing across the large club car park
from Roslin Road South’.

“The tennis club forms a distinctly open area, sitting comfortably amongst the leafy _residential
area. It is noted this proposal wouldnt change the sports use but merely seeks to_modify the
nature of the courts available, with a traditional tennis court changed to form two

padel courts. The padel courts involve additional fencing and glazed screens to each end.

The location of the new courts would be beyond the car park, close to the club house.

The padel courts should be of limited visibility from the public realm, with likely only distant
views across the car park. Due to the positioning and permeability of the enclosure, the
courts shouldnt be prominent to private views into the sports grounds. The enclosure of the
courts would be slightly more robust than the existing, but this is an historic sports use at
this site and it is positive to see the continued operation as an open sports facility.

Overall, it is considered that modification to the nature of the tennis courts would retain the
recreational use and openness of the site, and therefore the character of the conservation
area wouldnt be harmed by the proposal.”

Local Highway Authority Officer — No objection

67



‘These proposals do not result in an increase in land area associated with outdoor sport and
recreation use and therefore result in no material net gain in car and cycle parking demand.
Consequently, the continued use of the existing access and parking arrangements is acceptable’.

Representations

24.

25.

27.

Site notices were erected on 19 January 2024 with an expiry date of 9 February 2024. Following
the submission of amended plans and additional information, new site notices were erected on 10
May 2024, with an expiry date of 20 May 2024.

53 letters of objection were received. The grounds for objection are:

Unacceptable noise nuisance caused by the proposed padel courts and associated activities;
Adverse noise impact on local residents;

The loss of the tennis court;

The padel courts are not pleasant to view;

Padel tennis courts are a frequent source of complaint from local communities;

Padel tennis courts are not in keeping with the character of the area;

The provided Noise Report is not demonstrating real noise levels;

Impact on the Club’s soft landscaping;

Excessive opening hours

Padel courts are more noisy than lawn tennis;

The benefits to the local community and neighbourhood would be non-existent. Only private members
would benefit from this development;

The proposed development ignores the Conservation Area status;

Harm to the character and tranquillity of the Conservation Area

Development would be supportive if the courts were put under cover

The loss of the show court, impact of child safe area, nature as well as impact on the quiet area in the
clubhouse;

The club cannot provide an all-weather solution;

Impact on bats;

70 letters in support:

The proposed padel courts will help the community to stay fit and active;

There is a local need for padel courts;

Padel courts bring together community spirit and appeals to players from a wide range of ages,
backgrounds and abilities;

Padel courts would enhance the existing club;

The proposed development would promote health and well-being;

Improvement of the mental and physical health of people in the community;

The existing Club is an acceptable location for padel courts;

Great asset for the community;

The central location of the proposed padel courts within the Club grounds would minimalise any
potential noise disturbance;

The improved sport facilities will help to create Bournemouth more attractive to visitors;

A good balance between the needs of residents and the provision of courts for members;

The location is justified in the noise impact assessment which demonstrates low noise levels relative
to the existing background noise, at the adjacent property receptors.

The following issues were raised which are not material to the merits of the application;

e Lack of transparency and consultation with members within the Club;

e The title deeds there are restrictive covenants which only allow 'lawn tennis, badminton,
bowls and croquet’;
o Existing property’s devaluation.

68



Key Issue(s)

28.

29.

The key issue(s) involved with this proposal are:

Principle of the proposed works

Impact on character and appearance of the conservation area;
Impact on residential living conditions;

Other matters

These issues will be considered along with other matters relevant to this proposal below.

Policy context

30.

31

Local documents:

Core Strategy (2012)

Policy CS16 Parking Standards
Policy CS31 — Recreation, Play and Sports

Policy CS35 Nature and Geological Conservation Interests
Policy CS38 — Minimising Pollution

Policy CS39 — Designated Heritage Assets

Policy CS41 — Quality Design

District Wide Local Plan (2002)

Policy 4.25 — Landscaping

Policy 4.4 — Development in Conservation Area
Policy 7.10 — Recreation, Community Faclilities, and Open Space
Supplementary Planning Documents:

BCP Parking Standards — SPD

Meyrick Park and Talbot Woods Conservation Area Appraisal (July 2009)

National Planning Policy Framework (2023)
Including in particular the following:

Section 2 — Achieving Sustainable Development
Paragraph 11 —

“Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

69



For decision-taking this means:

(c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without
delay; or

(d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies whichare mostimportant
for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

The following chapters of the NPPF are also relevant to this proposal:

0) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

(i) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies of this Framework taken as a whole.”

Chapter 2 — Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Planning Assessment

Principle of the proposed works

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

Policy CS31 of the Core Strategy (2012) states that ‘The Council, through its own strategies and
work programmes, and working with developers and other partners will seek to ensure that the
quality, quantity, type and location of open space, sports grounds and play grounds meet demand
for recreation and sporting activities.” The proposal seeks to enhance an existing sports facility.
The site is located within a sustainable location with local services, transport links and amenities
in proximity.

This application follows mostrecent planning refusal for 3no. new padel courts under a planning
reference 7-2022-5036-BE, which was refused for a following refusal reason:

It has not been demonstrated that the proposed padel ball courts, and by association, their use,
would not result in a level of noise and disturbance that would be detrimental to the living
conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties. The development is therefore
contrary to the aims of Policies CS38 and CS41 of the Bournemouth Local Plan: Core Strategy
(2018) and the NPPF (2021)’.

The aim of the current application is to overcome this reason for refusal. To overcome this sole
reason for refusal, the new padel courts have been relocated more centrally within the Club
grounds in order to increase the distance from neighbouring residents. The submitted site plan
indicates the nearest residential property to either court will be 15 Roslin Road South, 51m to the
north. This has been verified on the Council’s systems using Ordnance Survey based data. The
application is also accompanied by the supporting noise impact assessment, which has been
assessed by the Council’'s Environmental Health Noise Officer.

The club already has one outdoor padel court. In terms of similar uses around the local authority,
on 18 January 2024 the BCP Planning Committee resolved to approve three padel tennis courts
with floodlights at East Dorset Tennis Club in Poole under a planning reference APP/23/00374/F
subjectto a legal agreement. There is already an extant approval for two courts at the EastDorset
club site under app. no. APP/22/00830/F. Also, the Council is currently considering a
retrospective proposal for two padel courts at David Lloyd Club, Cabot Lane, Poole under
APP/24/00496/F.

The provision of the proposed courts would complywith the aims of Policy CS31 and is considered
acceptable in principle subject to compliance with policies in the remainder of the Development
Plan.

70



Impact on character and appearance of the Conservation Area

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44,

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 confirms the duty of the Local
Planning Authority to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of a conservation area. The National Planning Policy Framework
provides the overarching guidance for development and identifies a conservation area as a
designated heritage asset. It is the Local Planning Authority's duty to ensure that through careful
decision making, development should maintain and manage change in a way that sustains, and
where appropriate, enhances its significance.

Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed development
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). Paragraph 200
of the NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset
(from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting) should require clear and
convincing justification.

The site occupies a large site within the conservation area and has an established historic leisure
use. The Meyrick Park and Talbot Woods Conservation Area was designated on 18 October 1988.
The adopted Meyrick Park and Talbot Woods Conservation Area Appraisal (CAA) identifies
traditional recreational facilities such as the existing tennis club with its associated activities as
one of the qualities of the Conservation Area. The West Hants Lawn Tennis Club site was
developed on the site from former allotments in the early 1930s.

The current application seeks to replace an existing tennis court, which is centrally located within
the Club grounds. The Council’'s Conservation Officer raised no objection as the proposed works
would retain same leisure use within the site. The existing tennis court with surrounding fencing
and floodlights would be replaced with two padel courts with surrounding enclosures and
floodlights. Due to the sitting of the replacement court, the proposed works would not be readily
visible from any public vantage point and therefore views of the proposed scheme would
principally be from within the Club grounds and from the residential properties bordering the site.
Therefore the proposals do not have wide-ranging visual impacts. The proposed works will be
viewed in the context of the existing buildings and exterior courts and their means of enclosure
within the site. In this context, the proposed courts and their enclosures are considered to form a
logical part of the site’s current character.

The existing site boundary or the multi-purpose sporting/leisure use of the site will not be affected
by the proposed padel courts and associated works. The verdant character of the site and the
visual quality of the wider Meyrick Park and Talbot Woods Conservation Area will not be adversely
affected by the proposed works.

As noted above, the existing boundary treatment serving the Club would remain. Taking NPPF
paragraphs 138 and 199 into account it is considered the proposed development would have a
negligible effect on the significance of the Meyrick Park and Talbot Woods Conservation Area.
The development will have limited prominence in views from the Conservation Area and would be
a logical addition in the context of the existing sports club. As such, it can be concluded that the
scheme would preserve the character or appearance of the Conservation Area and thereby
complies with the statutory test.

Two silver birch trees are shown to be removed on the submitted plans. It is understood these
were planted in 1999 are still relatively small. No arboricultural information has been submitted,
however the Council’'s Tree Officer does not object subject to imposing a condition detailing tree
protection measurements and tree planting details. Such approach is considered to be feasible
and the planting of two new trees is acceptable and is not objected to by the Council's
Arboriculturist.

The scheme results in less than substantial harm to the heritage asset. Applying the guidance in
paragraph 208 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), this impact must be weighed

71



45.

against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum
viable use. The scheme will facilitate the ongoing use of the site for leisure/sporting purposes
which is considered to be its optimum use. The scheme provides public benefits in increasing
recreational choice at the Club and in this case, these are considered to outweigh any harm to
the heritage asset.

For the above reasons, it is considered that the development as proposed would not have an
adverse impact on the character of the area and would not be contrary to the aims of Policies
CS39 and CS41 of the Core Strategy and saved Policy 4.25 and 4.4 of the District Wide Local
Plan, as well as relevant paragraphs of the NPPF.

Impact on residential living conditions

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

Policy CS41 outlines that ‘the Council will seek to ensure that new developments, including
changes of use, enhance the character, local distinctiveness, cultural identity, amenities of future
occupants and neighbouring residents’. The primary issue is potential noise disturbance from the
use of the proposed courts. The use of the site for the sport does not require planning permission
as itis considered to fall within the existing lawful use of the site which includes indoor and outdoor
recreation. No planning conditions restricting the types of sports were imposed when the site was
originally consented as a sports facility. If there are any restrictive covenants limiting the type of
sports that can be undertaken at the site this is a private matter and is not material to the planning
merits of the scheme. The granting of planning permission would not override any existing
covenant.

Paragraph 4.4. of the adopted Meyrick Park and Talbot Woods Conservation Area Appraisal
states that ‘the busy roads within and outside the conservation area, namely Wimborne Road,
Talbot Road, Talbot Avenue, Glenferness Avenue and Wessex Way create a constant audible
intrusion which is more noticeable the closerone is to either of these roads’. The proposal is for
these two new courts to be located centrally within the Club’s grounds next to the Club House.
Compared to the previous refusal ref. 7-2022-5036-BE, the currently proposed courts would be
set further away from the Elgin Road neighbours but instead closer to the properties on Roslin
Road South and parts of Dunkeld Road.

The potential for noise generation comes from the use of the padel ball courts as the game can
involve balls being hit off the enclosing court. Officers acknowledge that the game creates noise
and also results in common instances of impulsive noise. The applicant has provided a noise
assessment authored by a qualified noise consultant which concluded that with the proposed
noise mitigation in place, the impact on the amenities of neighbouring residential occupiers will be
acceptable. Local residents and the Branksome & Talbot Woods Residents Association provided
two responses to this assessment through other qualified noise consultants, the conclusions of
which were at variance to the applicants assessment. In view of the conflicting reports, the
Council’'s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) commissioned an independent review of all
information provided.

The initially submitted Venta Acoustic Report was questioned by both the residents and the
Council's EHO. The role of the Environmental Health Officer as the consultee is to scrutinise the
submitted information and apply professional judgement to form an opinion on the likely impact of
the development on local residents. It should be noted that the noise climate of the area is such
that the residents cannot expect complete silence as they live beside an established sports facility
where the sound scape is characterised by the noise of people playing tennis. Furthermore, if
there is a change or increase in noise impacts as a result of the proposals, this does not
automatically render the scheme unacceptable. It is still necessary for the Local Planning
Authority to demonstrate an overriding harm from the proposal which outweighs the scheme’s
benefits in order to refuse the application.

There were submitted acoustic reports and reviews provided by JSP Consultants on behalf of the

local residents, and the submission by Ken Parke planning consultants. This report questions the
Venta Report that the noise levels predicted at the receptor will be acceptable and the JSP report

72



51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

suggests that the noise levels have not been adequately assessed. Nevertheless, the Council’s
Environmental Health (EH) Team considered all the available evidence and recommended
approval subjectto conditions. In order to make an informed decision, the EH Team — and the
Council as a whole - are entitled to rely on the professionalism of the acoustic consultant acting
on behalf of the applicant that they have made a suitable assessment of the predicted noise levels
of the proposed courts. The report recommends controls and provides assurances that local
residents will not be significantly adversely impacted by noise impacts from the use of the
courts. The challenge with any application suchas this is that the likely impact of the development
is based on noise ‘predictions’ the actual noise that the residents would be subjected to can vary
with changes in seasons, wind direction or the intensity of play result in an increase or decrease
in the noise levels.

The EH Officer assessed any potential noise from the proposed courts to ensure that the proposed
development will not result in an unacceptable change or increase in the existing noise levels
adversely affecting the living conditions of residents currently adjoining an established sports
facility. The EH Officer visited the existing court on a number of occasions, such visits being
unannounced and found that the noise levels were subjectively no more intrusive than a normal
tennis game.

The agreed mitigation measurements by the Council’s Noise Officer are in the form of a 4 metre
high screen around the north side of the courts, wrapping around the flanking sides, as well as a
3 metre high glass screen along the west side of the western court. The proposed additional
mitigation for the courts is considered to be acceptable. Also, the EHO is satisfied with the
proposed location, which is seen as the most suitable for the courts as it makes use of the
additional screening offered by the club house, and is a suitable separation distance from the
closest residential properties. Therefore, the applicant has demonstrated that they have now
adequately assessed the likely impact of the courts on local residents, and suitable controls can
be implemented to prevent local residents being adversely impacted by the proposed Padel
Tennis Courts. It should be that if indeed this planning application is approved and the courts are
built in accordance with the plans, the Local Authority still has a duty under the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 to investigate allegations of a statutory noise nuisance and that agreeing to
the courts, this does not fetter the Council’s ability to undertake further investigations and require
further actions under this separate legislation should the Environmental Health team receive noise
nuisance complaints regarding the courts.

Overall, officers consider that the applicant has provided assurances to the local authority that the
noise impact on residents will be acceptable. If the courts do indeed result in a noise nuisance,
then there are still powers to act against a statutory noise nuisance. The Environmental Health
Officer confirmed that does not have the evidence to support the allegations raised by the
objectors that the courts will result in an adverse impact on local residents based on the submitted
noise reports.

Environmental Health have also assed the submitted Lighting Report, and confirmed that is
satisfied with the proposed lighting strategy. It was confirmed that the lluminance (Lux) levels at
the closest sensitive receptor is unlikely to create a light nuisance. Compliance with the
measurements set within the submitted Sports Facility Planning and Design Limited report would
be conditioned. Therefore, with regards to the impact of the floodlights on neighbouring living
conditions, the Environmental Health Officer has advised they are satisfied with the lighting
report. There is further suggested that the use of the courts will be restricted to 08:00 — 21.00 via
a planning condition.

Due to the distances from the adjacent residential properties to the proposed works, the physical
impacts of the courts and their enclosures is considered to have an acceptable impact on the living
conditions of surrounding properties in terms of their outlook and privacy and the scheme would
not result in an overbearing impact.

Consequently, the impact on the living conditions of the surrounding residential properties has
been carefully considered and the representations referring to these issues are recognised and

73



acknowledged. However, it is considered that the scheme is acceptable and compliant with the
provisions of Policy CS41of the Core Strategy.

Impact on wildlife

57.

58.

59.

Some 3 party comments raise concerns regarding bats on site. Having examined the Dorset
Environmental Records Centre (DERC) records on the Council’s systems, the nearest bat record
is in excess of 350m from the site. Article 12 of the European Commission’s Habitats Directive
(which forms part of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010) places a duty
on governments to have in place measures that prohibit... (b) deliberate disturbance of these
species, particularly during the period of breeding, rearing, hibernation and migration;” and “...(d)
deterioration or destruction of breeding sites or resting places.”

In response to these concerns, the Council’'s Ecologist was consulted on the proposals. No
objection was raised. Nonetheless, the potential for the presence of bats in the area was
highlighted. Despite of a lack of a valid bat report in place, the Council’'s Ecologist has advised the
scheme can be supported subject to conditioning the proposed floodlighting to have colour
temperature of 2700 K or less.

With these safeguards, the scheme therefore complies with Policy CS35.

Other matters

60.

61.

62.

It is noted that a number of objections have submitted queries regarding the application. The
Statement of Community Involvement and the Council’s website sets out that it is not possible to
respond to specific points raised in representations due to the large volume of correspondence
received on planning applications. Decisions are made on the basis of submitted information
which is in the public domain on the Council’s website.

Also, objectors noted that the proposed padel courts would result in loss of the existing quality
tennis court, will have impact of child safe area, nature, as well as impact on the quiet area in the
clubhouse. As noted already, the ecologist investigated the position and concluded that
appropriate mitigation can be included with regards to protected species. Also, two replacement
trees in line with the Council’s Tree Officer recommendations are proposed. It has not been
demonstrated that the loss of a tennis court or the child safe area breach any relevant policies in
the Development Plan. Weight is given to the evident level of support for the proposals and the
benefits of the scheme are considered to outweigh any impacts in this regard..

3 party responses raise concerns regarding parking provision on site. The Local Highway
Authority Officer has been consulted and raised no objection to the proposed works. The
proposals would not result in an increase in land area associated with outdoor sport and recreation
use. Consequently, it would not result in a need to meet increased car and cycle parking demand
under the Council’'s adopted Parking SPD. Given that and the fact that the proposed works already
replace an existing lawn tennis court, it is considered that associated traffic movements could be
safely accommodated on the existing transport network and that the existing parking facilities are
adequate to serve the proposed development. The scheme thereby complies with Policy CS16
and the BCP Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (2021).

Planning Balance

63.

The Council encourages sustainable development. To ensure that sustainable development is
pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. The schemewould not materially alter the existing sporting facility use located in an
easily accessible area. It would provide economic benefits during construction and in sustaining
the tennis club and also result in social benefits for the samereason. It would not result in material
harm to the character and appearance of the area of the wider area or the setting of the adjacent

74



64.

65.

Conservation Area. It would have acceptable impacts on neighbouring living conditions. Its
environmental impacts are therefore neutral.

Having recognised the collective benefits of the proposed scheme, it is concluded that the scheme
would achieve the economic, social and environmental objectives of sustainable development, in
line with the adopted local policies and the provisions of the NPPF. The scheme is therefore
recommended for approval.

In reaching this decision the Council has had due regard to the statutory duty in Section 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 which states that “with respect to
any buildings or other land in a conservation area, ... special attention shall be paid to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.”

Recommendation

66.

GRANT permission for the reasons as set out in this report subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

1. Time

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun not later than the expiration of three
years beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason - This condition is required to be imposed by the provisions of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 and amended by Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

Developmentto be carried out in accordance with plans as listed

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved
plans:

¢ Revised Site and Location Plans, drawing number 4557.70 rev. B

e Revised Padel Court Plans and Elevations, drawing number 4557 71 rev. B

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Noise

The use of the 2 padel tennis courts shall not commence until the acoustic fences have been
completed in accordance with the approved plans 4557.70 rev. B and 4557.71 rev. B. At no time
thereafter shall the noise levels from the court exceed the maximums identified as specified in the
VENTA acoustic report Reference VA3764.240419.L.1 at the closest noise sensitive receptors at No.
21 Dunkeld Road, Nos. 10-12 Roslin Road South and No. 15 Roslin Road South.

A detailed scheme of noise mitigation measures (management controls) shall also be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the use of the
two padel tennis courts. The approved noise mitigation measures shall at all times be accorded with.

Reason: In the interests of the living conditions of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
CS 38 and CS41 of the Core Strategy (October 2012).

75



4. Tree Protection

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced, including any site clearance, the
digging of any trenches and the bringing on to the application site of any equipment, materials and
machinery for use in connection with the implementation of the development, unless details of:

(a) the location, size and materials of all barriers and ground protection measures that will be
provided for trees that are to be retained on site; and
(b) atimetable for the provision of the specified measures,

all in accordance with BS5837:2012 "Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction -
Recommendations" (or an equivalent British Standard if replaced) have first been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority, ("the Approved Tree Protection Measures”). The
development shall only carried out in accordance with the Approved Tree Protection Measures and
all the approved barriers and measures shall be retained until both the development has been
completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials relating to the construction of the
development has been removed from the site, unless an alternative time is provided for in the
approved details.

Until suchtime as the Approved Tree Protection Measures have all been removed, nothing shall be
stored or placed in any area secured by any part of the Tree Protection Measures nor shall the ground
levels within those areas be altered or any excavation made without the written consent of the local
planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that trees and other vegetation to be retained are not damaged during construction
works and to accord with Policy 4.25 of the Bournemouth District Wide Local Plan (February 2002).

5. Provision for Tree Planting

Prior to the use commencing, full details of two new trees of species, their size, location and the
proposed times of planting, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved tree planting scheme shall be carried out in accordance with those details
and at those times and permanently retained thereatfter.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and effective arboricultural management and in accordance
with Policy 4.25 of the Bournemouth District Wide Local Plan (February 2002).

6. Hours of use
The padel courts hereby approved shall only be used between the hours of 08:00 — 21.00.

Reason: In the interests of the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and in accordance with
Policy CS 38 and CS41 of the Core Strategy (October 2012).

7. Flood lighting
The proposed floodlighting shall be installed in accordance with the lighting strategy as outlined in
appendix 2 of The Sports Facility Planning and Design Limited report, subject to the proposed
floodlighting to have a colour temperature of 2700 K or less. The erected floodlights shall thereafter
be permanently retained as such.

Reason: In the interests of the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and in accordance with
Policy CS 38 and CS41 of the Core Strategy (October 2012).

8. Statement required by National Planning Policy Framework (APPROVALS)
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the revised NPPF the Council, as Local Planning Authority, takes

a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focusedon solutions. The Council works

76



with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by offering a pre-application advice service,
and as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their
application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this instance the applicant was provided with the opportunity to resolve identified planning issues
within the application process including acceptable parking, access and turning arrangements on site,
as well as wate collection arrangements. Revised plans were provided to address concerns raised by
the Environmental Health Noise Officer. The application scheme satisfied planning policy and other
material considerations and was progressed to a recommendation of approval.

Background Documents:

Documents uploaded to that part of the Council’s website that is publicly accessible and specifically relates
to the application the subject of this report including all formal consultation response and representations
submitted by the applicant in respect of the application.

Case Officer Report Completed
Officer: Piotr Kulik
Date: 28/06/2024

Agreed by:

Date:
Comment:

77



This page is intentionally left blank

78



6.

A

Uakwood
/|
/
e
e /
/

/ /
ak e Yy
- O SR
0
(@]

g
O

/

club hpuse

1N

N
\
\
Slte Plan Proposed relocation of Padel Courts (approval 7-2013-5036-BB) -
1:500 @A at
THE WEST HANTS CLUB G
0 10 20 30 Bournemouth ( T | )
1:500 @ A1 for LIONEL GREGORY
THE WEST HANTS CLUB
SLMITED”
-~ toberemoved/demolished Date: February 2019 | Scale 1:500 @A1 | Drawn: DA, ARCHITECTS
L N SITE PLAN N I T
B 01.052023  Acoustic fencing added; padel court position amended. TEL: (01202) 723157
A 06.12.2023  Survey added; fences around proposed padle courts amended. 4557 708 B MAILL ofetonedrstors.co.uk



AutoCAD SHX Text
RGL:54.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
ROSLIN ROAD SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
DUNKELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
ELGIN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Oakwood

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
6 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
23a

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
Melville Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Shower No.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
CAWDOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
club house

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
69790

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
63197

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
74348

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
91168

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
51381

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
TEL: (01202) 723157

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
VANTAGE WAY, POOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
ARCHITECTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
UNIT J1, FULCRUM BUSINESS PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
E-MAIL: office@lionelgregory.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
FAX: (01202) 745464

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
DORSET. BH12 4NU

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
LIMITED

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
LIONEL GREGORY


L g
| | |
east eleva“on West elevauon dark green coloured steel mesh clear safety glass
1100 @A
[ et
~~proposed 2m high acoustic fence over existing brick wall s N
Rp— D
- move>\ e)&l?’f\\'\_g_t)“_'a“ === == LL88, ,‘,[S/ /Q|05iqﬂ L '\ - Ssgr‘eam : W Om
“i"- :9;:’( & ) /—  salelylass enCJOSiHSC@e”’ SR ~ \ cq
R NEORN ?fﬂii '
o _ //Z// //////?é ’ GRASS
Do / //// | ég ég ég ég ég ég dark green coloured
. | / 7 %/ / /// g 2 | steel mesh
proposed (10m long) 3meters high acoustic fence \# ///% / 4/ SE
¢ ‘\\ / oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo ? oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo clear safety glass
roposed (7.5m long) 3m high glass sc ens\ / ‘ ‘ north / SOUth elevat|0n3
| Vo / // o all end elevations identical
RRE: / 7 / \‘ / gy
Top of Dome 55.00 ks %//%//// T
\ \ safef ass enclosing screen . . .
| e 2no. new padel courts, each with enclosure to be 4m high to ends and returns, and 3m high to
S \ sides, comprising clear safety glass up to 3m height to ends and returns, and 2m height to
o ~ TENNIS COURT TO BE REMOVED = . . o o ) )
5 o\m < sidepanels, with remaining panels infilled with dark green coloured steel mesh. Al glazing to
2 3 B have white dot manifestation at Tm and 1.5m heights, and all fixed into dark green steel frame
© S “ columns of same height as screens, all in accordance with the requirements laid down by the
S = 3 International Federation of Padel (FIP)
FL 3 t%%
CLF/3m fo cemain 0% = < ‘\
4.85 5 (NCPLINTH LIGHT . N
TARMAC ‘L; D@ | /
|
| Padel tennis court
1:100 @A
O
1:100 @ A1
TENNIS COURTS
N
{
B 01.05.2023  Acoustic fencing added; padel court position amended.
A 06122023  Survey and scale bars added.
- foberemoved/ demolshed Proposed relocation of Padel Courts (Approval 7-2019-5036-BR)| P
at
THE WEST HANTS CLUB fary
Bournemouth ( f % )
for LIONEL _GREGORY
_ exsmorong THE WEST HANTS CLUB
SLMITED”
Date: February 2019| Scale 1:100/1:200 @A1 |Drawn: D.A. ARCHITECTS
T aNTAGE WA, PooLE
5 10 15 20 PADEL COURTS - PLAN & ELEVATIONS B!
Proposed block plan Occ-:—: TEL: R?%Tw 2855 23157
1:200 @ A1 1:200 @ A1 4557 71B E—MAL ofieBonerg soory.co.uk



AutoCAD SHX Text_46
HEDGE/0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
GY:44.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
GATES

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
PKF/1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
PAVIORS

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
ICE:44.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
CLF/0.9m to remain

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
GATES

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
%%C0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
%%C0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
%%C0.225

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Top of Dome:55.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
RGL:51.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
RGL:50.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
RGL:50.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
EVL:47.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
CLF/3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
CLF/3m to remain

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
CNC PLINTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
CNC BASE OF DOME

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
CLF/1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
CLF/3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
GENERATOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
ICW:45.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
ICs

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
ACO CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
PLANTING

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
ACO CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
ACO CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
ACO CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
HEDGE/0.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
PLANTING

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
TENNIS COURT TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
CLF/1m to be removed

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
%%C0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
CHERRY Spread:8 Trunk:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
S-BIRCH Spread:6 Trunk:0.25 

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
S-BIRCH Spread:6 Trunk:0.25 

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
S-BIRCH Spread:6 Trunk:0.3 

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
S-BIRCH Spread:5 Trunk:0.2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
MH CL:44.60 IL:43.06 

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
MH (SOAKAWAY) CL:44.99 IL:42.53 

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
MH (SOAKAWAY) CL:45.02 Top of Pipe:42.74 IL:42.60 

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
MH (SOAKAWAY) CL:44.91 IL:42.42 

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
MH CL:44.64 

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
CNC PAVING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
45.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
45.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
45.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
44.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
44.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
44.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
44.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
44.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
44.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
44.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
44.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
44.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
44.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
44.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
44.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
44.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
44.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
44.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
44.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
44.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
44.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
44.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
44.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
44.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
44.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
44.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
44.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
44.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
44.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
44.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
44.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
44.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
44.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
44.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
44.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
44.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
44.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
44.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
44.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
45.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
44.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
44.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
44.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
44.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
44.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
44.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
44.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
45.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
44.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
44.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
44.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
44.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
44.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
44.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
44.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
44.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
44.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
44.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
44.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
44.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
45.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
44.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
44.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
45.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
45.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
44.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
44.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
44.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
44.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
44.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
45.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
45.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
45.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
45.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
44.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
45.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
44.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
45.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
44.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
44.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
44.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
ToW:46.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
TEL: (01202) 723157

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
VANTAGE WAY, POOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
ARCHITECTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
UNIT J1, FULCRUM BUSINESS PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
E-MAIL: office@lionelgregory.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
FAX: (01202) 745464

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
DORSET. BH12 4NU

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
LIMITED

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
LIONEL GREGORY


Planning Committee

Agenda Item 6c¢
BCP

Council

Application Address

11 Ashridge Avenue, Bournemouth, BH10 6BX

Proposal

Alteration to front dormer window and extend roof over two
storey rear extension.

Application Number

7-2024-29176

Applicant Stag Conversions Ltd
Agent Mr Matthew Knowles
Ward and Ward Kinson
Member(s)

Clir Adams

Clir Dower

Clir Farr
Report Status Public
Meeting Date 18 July 2024

Summary of
Recommendation

GRANT planning permission in accordance with the
details set out below for the reasons as set out in the
report

Reason for Referral to
Planning Committee

Call-in from ClIr Dower for the following reasons;

The residents at number 9 Ashridge Avenue are concerned
that the size and height of the back extension will infringe of
the light into their garden. They are also concerned that the
windows planned to the side of the extension will mean that
they overlook number 9 impinging on their privacy.

Overlooking/loss of privacy.
Loss of light or overshadowing.

This will negatively affect the lives of the two residents who
live next door to number 11. They sit on the patio every
evening and this extension will affect the enjoyment of their
home.

Case Officer

Laura Sims

Is the proposal EIA
Development?

No

81




Description of Proposal

1.  The application is a householder proposal to form a front gable and extend the roof of the property
over two storey rear extension. Alterations are proposed to an existing front dormer with dormers
proposed to both side roofslopes and additional rooflights. A gable end will be formed to the rear
elevation. The existing roof slates will be replaced by fibre cement tiles with composite cladding to
the dormers. The ground floor of the property will be rendered.

2.  The extension would create a kitchen/diner on the ground floor to the rear and two additional
bedrooms and W/C at 1%t floor.

Description of Site and Surroundings

3.  The application site is located on Ashridge Avenue and is occupied by a detached bungalow
dwelling. The front of the site is enclosed with low brick walls to the front and is set back from the
highway via a grassed over driveway and front garden. There is a dropped kerb outside the
dwelling allowing for potential vehicular access to off road parking.

4.  Tothe front elevation of the existing dwelling is a gable style dormer. The dwelling is in
pebbledash with a red brick plinth and a slate roof. Ashridge Avenue is a residential street
composed primarily of 2-storey houses which appear to date from the inter-war period and have a
reasonable degree of consistency in their form, materials, scale, design and plot size. The
properties occupy a regular and consistent frontage position. Whilst No. 11 reflects many of the
street’s prevailing characteristics listed above, it is something of an anomaly in being the only
bungalow in the road.

Relevant Planning Applications and Appeals:

5. None.
Constraints
6. None.

Public Sector Equalities Duty

7. In accordance with section 149 Equality Act 2010, in considering this proposal due regard has
been had to the need to —

¢ eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or
under this Act;

e advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it;

o foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it.

Other relevant duties

8. None.

Consultations

9. None.

82



Representations

10.  Site notices were posted in the vicinity of the site on 08/05/2024 with an expiry date for
consultation of 30/05/2024.

11. One representation has been received raising an objection to the development. The issues raised

relate to;

Overlooking/ loss of privacy

Loss of outlook

Loss of light, impacting on a recently built patio.

Concerns over differences in level between properties increasing the impacts of the
scheme.

Loss of views

o Difficulties with ongoing maintenance

Key Issues

12. The main considerations involved with this application are:

¢ Impact on character and appearance of the area
¢ Impact on residential living conditions

13. These points will be discussed as well as other material considerations throughout this report.

Planning Policies

14. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning applications

must be determined in accordance with the development plan for an area, except where material
considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan in this case comprises the and saved
policies of the Bournemouth Core Strategy (2012) and Bournemouth Local Plan (2002).

15. Core Strategy (2012)
CS41: Design Quality

16. Supplementary Planning Documents:

e BCP Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (2021)
¢ Residential Extensions: A Design Guide for Householders — PGN (2008)
e Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) - PGN

17. National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF” / “Framework”)

The policies in the Framework are material considerations which should be taken into account in
dealing with applications.

Section 2 — Achieving Sustainable Development
Paragraph 11 —

“Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. .....

For decision-taking this means:

83



(€)
(d)
(i)

(ii)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without
delay; or

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important
for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits,
when assessed against the policies of this Framework taken as a whole.”

Section 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Planning Assessment

Impact on character and appearance of the area

18.

19.

20.

21.

The proposed extension would project 5.2 metres beyond the existing rear elevation and extend
the existing hipped roof with a gable end. Due to the spacing between dwellings, this would be
partially visible to the street scene. However, the proposal is considered to represent a logical
addition to the property, in keeping with its scale and character and this would have an acceptable
impact on the streetscene. The proposed site is the only bungalow within the street scene and
therefore this addition would not be seen as dominant or overbearing to the character or
appearance of Ashridge Avenue.

Further the proposal would include two side dormers with catslide style roofs. They would have a
height of 2 metres and length of 5 metres along each roof slope. They would form a logical addition
to the property and would not be overly dominant or to create a harmful horizontal emphasis. The
dormers have been reduced in length and amended in design from the original proposal. The
catslide roof of the reduced dormers would be of better design than flat roof dormers as the
horizontal emphasis is reduced, the dormers would be set 2.3 metres back from the principal
elevation and would not take up a significant area of the roof slope. The dormers would be set off
the eaves and ridge line, being subservient features.

The front elevation gable style dormer is similar in design to the existing front elevation dormer. It
would increase in height by 0.5 metres and 0.8 metres in width, and therefore slightly more
prominent in the streetscene. However it would not be considered as out of character or a harmful
addition to the property. Dormers to dwellings on Ashridge Avenue are not a common feature as
the majority of properties are 2-storey. The existing property has a prominent front dormer and the
proposals are not considered harmful to the street scene.

Overall the proposal would has acceptable impacts on the character and appearance of the
property and the street scene. The rear roof alterations and extension would not be harmfully
visible to Ashridge Avenue, the side elevation dormers would be of appropriate size and would not
be considered as a dominant addition to the dwelling. Therefore the proposal would comply with
Policy CS41.

Impact on residential living conditions

9 Ashridge Avenue

22.

The proposed dwelling sits on the shared boundary with Number 9 and would extend 2.2 metres
beyond the rear elevation of no.9. Therefore the proposals will be visible from this neighbour.
Although the proposal does stretch further along the shared boundary, this neighbour is set
approx.. 5m to the north with an intervening garage. This limits the physical impacts of the
projection of the extension beyond the rear of this neighbour and the scheme is not considered to
result in an overbearing impact to this neighbour, nor result in a loss of outlook.

84



23.

The amended plans reduced the openings to the north side elevation facing No.9 to a bathroom
window and two rooflights serving a bedroom which the plans show are 1.7m above floor level.
Rear facing 1 floor bedroom windows will have oblique views over adjoining gardens, however
this is a common relationship within the street. There is around 35m to the nearest property to the
rear in Pinewood Avenue to the east. There would be no ground floor windows facing Number 9
therefore there would be no harmful overlooking. Accordingly, the proposals have acceptable
impacts on the privacy of these neighbours.

13 Ashridge Avenue

24.

25.

26.

No. 13 sits to the south of the site. The proposed rear extension would sit 4.3 metres off the
shared boundary with Number 13 Ashridge Avenue and would extend 2.5 metres beyond the
neighbouring rear elevation. Due to the orientation, sitting and maintained ridge height, there would
be no harmful overshadowing or loss of light to Number 13 Ashridge Avenue. Whilstvisible to this
neighbour, the extent to which the extension projects beyond the rear of No.13 and with its roof
sloping away from the boundary, the scheme is not considered to result in an overbearing impact
or loss of outlook.

The side elevation windows to the proposed dormer, roof slope and ground floor elevation would
face the side elevation of Number 13 Ashridge Avenue. These windows do not serve habitable
rooms and the rooflights to the 15! floor bedroom are high level. The site visit conducted by the
case officer, confirmed that Number 13 does not have any existing side elevation windows facing
the proposed site and therefore would not cause any harmful overlooking.

Overall the proposal would have acceptable impacts on the residential living conditions of
neighbouring properties and comply with Policy CS41.

Conclusion

27.

28.

The proposal has acceptable impacts on the character and appearance of the street scene. The
additions would not be considered as overbearing or dominant and would be proportionate to the
original dwelling. The hipped roof form to the front elevation has been maintained and is therefore
complimentary to the street scene. The side elevation dormers would not harm the appearance of
the dwelling or be considered as excessive in size. The assessment of residential living conditions
has concluded the scheme has acceptable impacts.

Therefore, having considered the appropriate development plan policy and other material
considerations, including the NPPF, it is considered that subject to compliance with the conditions
attached to this permission, the development would be in accordance with the Development Plan,
would not materially harm the character or appearance of the area or the amenities of
neighbouring and proposed occupiers. The Development Plan Policies considered in reaching this
decision are set out above.

Recommendation

30

It is therefore recommended that this application is approved.

Conditions

1. The development to which this permission relates to shall be begun no later than the expiration of

three years beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason — This condition is required to be imposed by the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 and amended by Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

85



The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:

P-01 Rev A
P-04 Rev D
P-05 Rev E

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3.

Notwithstanding the details included on the application form, the materials and colours to be used
in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension and roof alterations hereby permitted
shall match the elevation(s) to which the extension is to be added and such work shall be
completed prior to occupation of the development granted by this permission.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and the new development
in accordance with Policy CS41 of the Bournemouth Local Plan: Core Strategy (October 2012).

4.

The proposed skylights on the north elevation roof slope shall be of high level type (minimum
1.7m internal sill height) and shall be permanently retained as such.

Reason: To prevent undue overlooking of the adjoining residential property and in accordance with
Policy CS41 of the Bournemouth Local Plan: Core Strategy (October 2012).

5.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied unless the window on the
northern elevation dormer as shown on approved plan P-05 revision E dated March 2024 has
first been fitted with obscured glazing which conforms with or exceeds Pilkington Texture Glass
Privacy Level 3 (or an equivalent level in any replacement standard) and every such window is
either a fixed light or hung in such a way as to ensure that the full benefit of the obscured glazing
in inhibiting overlooking is at all time maintained. This shall thereafter at all times be retained in a
manner that fully accords with the specifications of this condition.

Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of adjoining properties and in accordance with Policy
CS41 of the Bournemouth Local Plan: Core Strategy (October 2012).

Statement required by National Planning Policy Framework

26

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the revised NPPF the Council takes a positive and
proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions. The Council work with
applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

offering a pre-application advice service,
as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing
of their application and where possible suggesting solutions,

In this instance, the agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit, and responded by
submitting amended plans, which were found to be acceptable and permission was granted.

Background Documents:

Case File —ref 7-2024-29176

NB

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant Public

Access pages on the council’'s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is necessary to ensure
accuracy and enforceability.

86



JASS

Church

— Existing pro

Soakawa

Proposet-s

p V

xte

a

Block Plan

Scale 1:500

Location Plan

Scale 1:1250

=
T

o
Z

Client;

\_

g

Stag Conversions Lt

Project:

\_

N

11 Ashridge Avenue
Bournemouth
Dorset BH10 6BX

Title:

~N

Location and

Block Plan
DRAWN | MK Drg. No. N\
DATE April 2024
\SCALE | 1:100@A3 P'O 1 A



AutoCAD SHX Text_197
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
Church


This page is intentionally left blank

88



68

==

Bedroom

L1

Living

AN
Z 7

/|

Living

Bathroom

4

Lobby

— NPF

EEe—

u

Ground Floor Plan

1

_ L
F
|
|
| i
|
‘ _
| ﬁ
Bedroom
|
|
|
|
|
‘ — —
L PR

N~

First Floor Plan

Om
L

Tm
|

2m
l

1:100 Scale Bar

-
~.. - 7
Client: \
Stag Conversions Ltd
Roof Plan \
Project:

\

11 Ashridge Avenue

Bournemouth
Dorset

~

BH10 6BX

Title:

g

Existing Plans

~

DRAWN

MK

DATE

March 2024

\ SCALE

1:100@A3

Drg. No.

P-02




This page is intentionally left blank

90



16

Side (North Eastern) Elevation

— T
1
—
I—

L]

v

T
]
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
1
|
L

Riiiiinir)

Side (South Western) Elevation

Front (North Western) Elevation

7

il

T ][O
| R

s s —

Om Tm 2m 3m 4m 5m

1:100 Scale Bar

Client:

\_

~

Stag Conversions Ltd

Project:

\

~

11 Ashridge Avenue
Bournemouth
Dorset BH10 6BX

Rear (South Eastern) Elevation

Title:

g

~

Existing Elevations

DRAWN

DATE

MK Drg. No. )

\ SCALE

March 2024 P O 3 A
1:100@A3 =




This page is intentionally left blank

92



cb

1125 5140

125

Family

Kitchen

6500

|

T wardrobe °
- Dressing | €
Bedroom 1 ES

N =1/
€

Ew%
@
——

Ground Floor Plan

900

1400

900

T

—

wardrobe

Bedroom 3

|

bl
D
I§ Bathroom

, dﬂl N L
=y

wardrobe
w
[0
o
=
o
O
3
I
[ 3000 ]

wardrobe

Bedroom 2 (*

-
|

|

|

|

|

|

|

|

|

| |
|

|

|

|

|

L

. 7

First Floor Plan

Om
|

Tm 2m 3m 4m 5m
| | | | |

1:100 Scale Bar

Roof Plan

\

Client:
< Stag Conversions Ltd\
Project:

~

11 Ashridge Avenue
Bournemouth
Dorset BH10 6BX

Title:

g

~

Proposed Plans

DRAWN

DATE

MK Drg. No. )

\ SCALE

March 2024 P_O4 D

1:100@A3




This page is intentionally left blank

94



56

oG

1700

Composite cladding

Fibre cement tiles

1st fl level

7

D] Render entire ground floor ———=

-
(=

O s T PR

Side (North Eastern) Elevation

Front (North Western) Elevation

Om Tm 2m 3m 4m 5m

1:100 Scale Bar

Client: \

El

oG

Stag Conversions Ltd
Ii —

1700

Project: \

st fllevel 11 Ashridge Avenue

[
L]
[ ]

Bournemouth
\ Dorset BH10 6BX

] Title: \

Side (South Western) Elevation

Proposed Elevations

Rear (South Eastern) Elevation

-

DRAWN | MK Drg. No. N\

DATE | March 2024 P 05 E
\scAE | 1:100@A3 -




This page is intentionally left blank

96



	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	5 Public Issues
	PLANNING COMMITTEE - PROTOCOL FOR SPEAKING / STATEMENTS AT PLANNING COMMITTEE
	1. Introduction
	2. Order of presentation of an application
	3. Guidance relating to the application of this protocol
	4. Electronic facilities relating to Planning Committee
	4.1. All electronic broadcasting and recording of a Planning Committee meeting by the Council and the provision of an opportunity to speak remotely at such a meeting is dependent upon such matters being accessible, operational and useable during the m...

	5. Attending in person at a Planning Committee meeting / wholly virtual meetings
	5.1. Unless otherwise stated on the Council’s website and/or the agenda Planning Committee will be held as a physical (in person) meeting. A Planning Committee meeting will only be held as a wholly virtual meeting during such time as a decision has be...

	6. Provisions for speaking at Planning Committee (whether in person or remotely)
	6.1. Any applicant, objector or supporter who wishes to speak at a Planning Committee meeting must register a request to speak in writing with Democratic Services at democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  by 10.00 am of the working day before the meet...
	6.2. A person registering a request to speak must:
	6.3. There will be a maximum combined time of five minutes allowed for any person(s) objecting to an application to speak.  A further combined five minute maximum will also be allowed for any supporter(s).  Up to two people may speak during each of th...
	6.4. If more than two people seek to register a wish to speak for either side, an officer from Democratic Services may ask those seeking the opportunity to speak to appoint up to two representatives to address the Planning Committee.  In the absence o...
	6.5. A person registered to speak may appoint a different person to speak on their behalf.  The person registered to speak should normally notify Democratic Services of this appointment prior to the time that is made available to speak on the applicat...
	6.6. A person may at any time withdraw their request to speak by notifying Democratic Services by email or in person on the day of that meeting.  However, where such a withdrawal is made after the deadline date for receipt of requests then the availab...
	6.7. During consideration of a planning application at a Planning Committee meeting, no question should be put or comment made to any councillor sitting on the Planning Committee by any applicant, objector or supporter whether as part of a speech or o...

	7. Questions to person speaking under this protocol
	7.1. Questions will not normally be asked of any person who has been given the opportunity to speak for the purpose of this Protocol.  However, the Chair at their absolute discretion may raise points of clarification.

	8. Speaking as a ward councillor or other BCP councillor (whether in person or remotely)
	8.1. Any ward councillor shall usually be afforded an opportunity to speak on an application at the Planning Committee meeting at which it is considered.  Every ward councillor who is given the opportunity to speak will have up to five minutes each.
	8.2. At the discretion of the Chair, any other councillor of BCP Council not sitting as a voting member of the Planning Committee may also be given the opportunity to speak on an application being considered at Planning Committee.  Every such councill...
	8.3. Any member of the Planning Committee who has exercised their call in powers to bring an application to the Planning Committee for decision should not vote on that item but subject to any requirements of the Member Code of Conduct, may have or, at...

	9. Speaking as a Parish or Town Council representative (whether in person or remotely)
	9.1. A Parish or Town Council representative who wishes to speak as a representative of that Parish or Town Council must register as an objector or supporter and the same provisions for speaking as apply to any other objector or supporter applies to t...

	10. Content of speeches (whether in person or remotely) and use of supporting material
	10.1. Speaking must be done in the form of an oral representation.  This should only refer to planning related issues as these are the only matters the Planning Committee can consider when making decisions on planning applications.  Speakers should no...
	10.2. A speaker who wishes to provide or rely on any photograph, illustration or other visual material when speaking (in person or remotely) must submit this to Democratic Services by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. All such material must...
	10.3. The ability to display material on screen is wholly dependent upon the availability and operation of suitable electronic equipment at the time of the Planning Committee meeting and cannot be guaranteed.  Every person making a speech should there...

	11. Remote speaking at Planning Committee
	11.1. In circumstances where the Council has put in place electronic facilities which enable a member of the public to be able to speak remotely to a Planning Committee meeting, a person may request the opportunity to speak remotely via those electron...
	11.2. The opportunity to speak remotely is undertaken at a person’s own risk on the understanding that should any technical issues affect their ability to participate remotely the meeting may still proceed to hear the item on which they wish to speak ...
	11.3. A person attending to speak remotely may at any time be required by the Chair or the Democratic Services Officer to leave any electronic facility that may be provided.

	12. Non-attendance / inability to be heard at Planning Committee
	12.1. It is solely the responsibility of a person who has been given an opportunity to speak on an application at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely) to ensure that they are present for that meeting at the time when an opportu...
	12.2. A failure / inability by any person to attend and speak in person or remotely at a Planning Committee meeting at the time made available for that person to speak on an application will normally be deemed a withdrawal of their wish to speak on th...
	12.3. This protocol includes provisions enabling the opportunity to provide a statement as an alternative to speaking in person / as a default option in the event of a person being unable to speak at the appropriate meeting time.

	13. Submission of statement as an alternative to speaking / for use in default
	13.1. A person (including a councillor of BCP Council) who has registered to speak, may submit a statement to be read out on their behalf as an alternative to speaking at a Planning Committee meeting (whether in person or remotely).
	13.2. Further, any person speaking on an application at Planning Committee may, at their discretion, additionally submit a statement which can be read out as provided for in this protocol in the event of not being able to attend and speak in person or...

	14. Provisions relating to a statement
	15. Assessment of information / documentation / statement
	15.1. BCP Council reserves the right to check any statement and any information / documentation (including any photograph, illustration or other visual material) provided to it for use at a Planning Committee meeting and to prevent the use of such inf...

	16. Guidance on what amounts to a material planning consideration
	16.1. As at the date of adoption of this protocol, the National Planning Portal provides the following guidance on material planning considerations:

	Note
	For the purpose of this protocol:
	(a) reference to the “Chair” means the Chair of Planning Committee and shall include the Vice Chair of Planning Committee if the Chair is at any time unavailable or absent and the person presiding at the meeting of a Planning Committee at any time tha...
	(b) reference to the Head of Planning includes any officer nominated by them for the purposes of this protocol and if at any time the Head of Planning in unavailable, absent or the post is vacant / ceases to exist, then the Development Management Mana...
	(c) reference to ‘ward councillor’ means a councillor in whose ward the application being considered at a meeting of Planning Committee is situated in whole or part and who is not a voting member of the Planning Committee in respect of the application...
	(d) a “wholly virtual meeting” is a Planning Committee meeting where no one including officers and councillors physically attend the meeting; however, a meeting will not be held as a “wholly virtual meeting” unless legislation permits



	6a 39 Brudenell Avenue, Poole BH13 7NW
	Combined Plans Brudenell
	Location plan
	01A-Location Plan

	Proposed basement plan
	09A-Proposed Basement Plan

	Proposed first floor plan
	07A-Proposed First Floor Plan

	Proposed front elevation - west
	11-Proposed Elevations

	Proposed ground floor plan
	06A-Proposed Ground Floor Plan

	Proposed indicative streetscene
	10B-Indicative Streetscene

	Proposed rear elevation - east
	13-Proposed Elevations

	Proposed second floor plan
	08A-Proposed Second Floor Plan

	Proposed sections
	18-Indicative Site Sections

	Proposed side elevation - north
	12-Proposed Elevations

	Proposed side elevation - south
	14-Proposed Elevations

	Proposed site plan showing basement
	05D-Proposed Site Plan - Showing Basement Floor Plan

	Proposed site plan showing second floor plan
	04D-Proposed Site Plan - Showing Second Floor Plan



	6b West Hants Lawn Tennis Club, Roslin Road South, Bournemouth BH3 7EF
	West Hants combined plans
	Sheets and Views
	4557.70 Site Plan

	bcde891a-0b03-4315-aeed-1913b9a38ce3.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	4557.71 Padel court plan & elevations




	6c 11 Ashridge Avenue, Bournemouth BH10 6BX
	Location and Block P-01A
	Sheets and Views
	Location and Block P-01A


	Existing Plans P-02A
	Sheets and Views
	Existing Plans P-02A


	Existing Elevations P-03A
	Sheets and Views
	Existing Elevations P-03A


	Proposed Plans P-04D
	Sheets and Views
	Proposed Plans P-04D


	Proposed Elevations P-05E
	Sheets and Views
	Proposed Elevations P-05E




